Seton Hall University

eRepository @ Seton Hall

Seton Hall University Dissertations and Theses (ETDs) Seton Hall University Dissertations and Theses

Summer 7-3-2020

Isotype-specific outcomes in Fc gamma receptor targeting of PspA using fusion proteins as a vaccination strategy against Streptococcus pneumoniae infection

Kari Wiedinger kari.wiedinger@student.shu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarship.shu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Immunology of Infectious Disease Commons

Recommended Citation

Wiedinger, Kari, "Isotype-specific outcomes in Fc gamma receptor targeting of PspA using fusion proteins as a vaccination strategy against Streptococcus pneumoniae infection" (2020). *Seton Hall University Dissertations and Theses (ETDs)*. 2795.

https://scholarship.shu.edu/dissertations/2795

Isotype-specific outcomes in Fc gamma receptor targeting of PspA using fusion proteins as a vaccination strategy against Streptococcus pneumoniae infection

By

Kari J. Wiedinger

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy Department of Biological Sciences Seton Hall University July 2020 Copyright © by Kari J. Wiedinger 2020 All rights reserved

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my deep gratitude to my friends and family who have always believed in me under any circumstance. I am thankful to my parents who taught me the value of never giving up, and my husband who never questioned my long and frustrating work hours. I am also grateful to my friends who have championed me as the expert on all thing's biology, even when it's categorically untrue. I am sorry to say I still don't know how gamma rays could make a Hulk. And I'm unfamiliar with the spider species that may have bit Peter Parker.

On a serious note, I would also like to acknowledge my lab mates James McCauley and LeeAnne Talbot. James, your help and positivity was indispensable. LeeAnne, I am so thankful we have had the opportunity to become friends. Your encouragement and optimism continued to motivate me throughout this arduous experience.

I would like to specifically thank my committee members, both past and present, for your insight and support. And the institution of Seton Hall University for allowing me to pursue both my educational and professional aspirations. Many of my proudest accomplishments are intrinsically intertwined with Seton Hall University.

Finally, this work would not have been possible without the continued guidance and support of my mentor Dr. Constantine Bitsaktsis. I am forever grateful to have been given the opportunity to learn and develop in your lab, it has been a privilege I will never forget.

Table of Contents

Acknowle	edgements	i
Table of (Contents	ii
List of Ta	ibles and Figures	iii
List of Al	obreviations	iv
Abstract		v
I.	Introduction	1-18
	A. Streptococcus pneumoniae	
	1. Transmission and Colonization	
	2. Virulence Factors	
	B. Vaccine Approaches	
	1. Pneumococcal Polysaccharide and Conjugate Vaccines	
	2. Limitations to Current Vaccine Strategies	
	3. Common Protein Vaccine	
	C. Fc Receptors	
	1. FcyR Overview and Significance	
	2. Activating Receptors	
	3. Inhibitory Receptors	
	4. Neonatal Fc Receptor	
	5. Fc Targeted Vaccines	
II.	Aims of Study	19
III.	Materials and Methods	20-26
	A. Bacteria and Mice	
	B. Construction, Purification, and Characterization of IgG1 Fc-PspA	and IgG2a Fc-
	PspA Fusion Proteins	
	C. Antigen Presentation Assay	
	D. Immunization and Challenge	
	E. Bacterial Burden	
	F. Measurement of Cytokine Production and S. Pneumoniae Specific	Antibody
	Production	
	G. Flow Cytometry	
	H. B cell Proliferation Assay	
	I. Statistical Analysis	
IV.	Results	27-43
V.	Discussion	44-49
VI.	Conclusions	50
VII.	References	51-61

Tables and Figures

	<u>Page</u>
Table 1. Serotype coverage across approved polysaccharide and conjugate vaccines.	5
Table 2. Binding affinities of mouse Fcy receptors for IgG.	11
Table 3. Antibodies used for flow cytometry analysis.	25
Figure 1. Construction, purification, and functional characterization of Fc fusion proteins.	29
Figure 2. IL-2 secretion from PspA specific T-cells is reversed in the presence of $Fc\gamma R$ block.	30
Figure 3. Immunization with IgG2a Fc-PspA fusion protein protects against lethal <i>Streptococcus pneumoniae</i> challenge and decreases bacterial burden in the lungs of infected mice.	31
Figure 4. PspA specific antibodies are increased in mice immunized with IgG2a fusion proteins.	32
Figure 5. IgG2a fusion proteins enhance the early innate immune response.	33
Figure 6. Immunization with IgG2a Fc-PspA polarized alveolar macrophage to the AM1 phenotype 24 hours after lethal <i>Streptococcus pneumoniae</i> challenge.	35
Figure 7 . IgG2a fusion protein increases CD11b+ (DC1) and CD103+ (DC2) dendritic cells in the lung 24 hours after <i>Streptococcus pneumoniae</i> infection.	37
Figure 8. The protective efficacy of IgG1 Fc-PspA against <i>Streptococcus pneumoniae</i> is enhanced in FcγRIIB knockout mice.	38
Figure 9. The PspA specific humoral response induced by IgG1 Fc-PspA is improved in FcγRIIB KO mice.	39
Figure 10. Proinflammatory cytokines are increased in the lung and spleen of FcγRIIB knockout mice immunized with IgG1 Fc-PspA.	40
Figure 11. Targeting activating $Fc\gamma R$ promotes memory-like B-cells in the spleen of immunized mice which is enhanced in the absence of $Fc\gamma RIIB$.	42
Figure 12. CD19+ B-Cells proliferate on secondary exposure to PspA.	43

List of Abbreviations

ADCC	Antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity
AM	Alveolar Macrophage
APC	Antigen presenting cell(s)
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CBP	Choline-binding proteins
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CFU	Colony forming units
CTB	Cholera toxin B
DC	Dendritic Cell(s)
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
Fc	Fragment crystallizable
FcγR	Fc gamma receptor(s)
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
IFNγ	Interferon gamma
iFt	Inactivated Francisella tularensis
IL	Interleukin
i.n.	Intranasal
ITAM	Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif(s)
ITIM	Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif
KO	Knockout
MFI	Mean fluorescent intensity
Mg	Milligram
MHCII	Major histocompatibility complex class II
Ml	Milliliter
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCV	Pneumococcal conjugate vaccine
PiaA	Pneumococcal iron acquisition
PiuA	Pneumococcal iron uptake
Ply	Pneumolysin
PPV	Pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine
PsaA	Pneumococcal surface adhesin A
PspA	Pneumococcal surface protein A
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
Spn	Streptococcus pneumoniae
StkP	Serine/threonine-protein kinase
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
μl	Microliter
WT	Wildtype

Abstract

Streptococcus pneumoniae (Spn) remains a considerable threat to public health despite the availability of antibiotics and polysaccharide conjugate vaccines. The lack of mucosal immunity in addition to capsular polysaccharide diversity, has proved to be problematic in developing a universal vaccine against Spn. Targeting antigen to Fc receptors is an attractive way to augment both innate and adaptive immunity against mucosal pathogens, by promoting interactions with activating Fcy receptors (FcyR) that mediate diverse immunomodulatory functions. The effect of targeting FcyR is highly influenced by the IgG subclass, which bares differential affinities for activating and inhibitory FcyR. In the current study we demonstrate targeting activating FcyR with fusion proteins consisting of PspA and IgG2a Fc enhance PspA-specific immune responses, and effectively protect against mucosal Spn challenge. Specifically, targeting PspA to FcyR polarized alveolar macrophage to the AM1 phenotype and increased conventional dendritic cell subsets in the lung in addition to augmenting Th1 cytokines and PspA-specific IgG and IgA. In contrast, fusion proteins consisting of PspA fused to the IgG1 Fc provided minimal benefit over administration of PspA alone, as a result of interaction with the inhibitory FcyRIIB. Protective efficacy of the IgG1 fusion protein was significantly enhanced in animals deficient for FcyRIIB accompanied by increased B cell maturation and proliferation levels in these animals. These studies demonstrate FcyR targeting is an effective strategy for inducing potent cellular and humoral responses via mucosal immunization with Fc fusion proteins, however, careful consideration of the Fc region utilized is required since Fc isotype subclass heavily influenced immunization induced effector functions and survival against lethal Spn challenge. Fcengineering with specific attention to FcyRIIB engagement presents a valuable vaccine strategy for protecting against Spn infection.

v

I. Introduction

A. Streptococcus Pneumoniae

1. Transmission and Colonization

Streptococcus Pneumoniae (Spn) is a gram-positive, extracellular bacterial pathogen responsible for more deaths globally than any other bacterial pathogen (1). Spn is associated with a wide range of diseases, from mild respiratory tract infections such as otitis media and sinusitis, to more severe occurrences such as community-acquired pneumonia, sepsis, and meningitis. Infection is preceded by asymptomatic colonization of the upper respiratory tract with carriage rates of up to 65% in children and 10% in adults (2,3). Once acquired, an individual can carry the colonizing strain for weeks to months before it is effectively cleared from the upper respiratory tract by innate immune mechanisms. Infection is likely spread from person to person by transmission of aerosols, or direct contact with contaminated secretions. Horizontal spread between hosts enables the bacteria to enter the nasal passage and colonize the nasopharyngeal tract. Spn can then penetrate sterile tissues become invasive disease through virulence driven mechanisms or host immune susceptibility.

Colonization establishes a carrier state which can last for weeks to months before clearance. Carriage induces the production of mucosal and systemic antibody but the extent to which carriage is an immunizing event remains unclear. Whole genome sequencing of carriage isolates found genomic variation, such as prophage sequences and SNP heritability, to be more reflective of carriage duration then individual host traits, such as age or previous Spn colonization (4). The influence of genetic variants on colonization may not be surprising, since serotype is known to be strongly associated with carriage duration. Serotype is determined by the capsular-polysaccharide composition on the surface of the microbe, which is important in

determining the bacterial physiology, strain- specific virulence traits, and host immune responses. Over 90 different serotypes have been identified based on the unique characteristics of the polysaccharide capsule, but only a small subset are involved in carriage and invasive disease (5).

2. Virulence Factors

The propensity for varying strains to cause invasive disease is partly attributed to their ability to produce virulence factors. Among the many pneumococcal virulence factors which have been identified the capsule, pneumolysin toxin, and choline-binding proteins have received the considerable attention due to their ability to enhance pathogenesis, and their potential as promising antigen candidates for vaccine development. The capsule is one of the first virulence factors to come into contact with the host and promote effective colonization. The presence of the capsule prevents entrapment and mechanical removal by mucus. The capsule also promotes virulence through effective antiphagocytic activity that prevents opsonophagocytosis. Specifically, the capsule prevents the iC3b from activating the classical complement cascade and can interfere with attached immunoglobulin binding to cognate receptors on the surface of white blood cells (6).

Pneumolysin belongs to a family of pore forming toxins which are produced by virtually all pneumococcal isolates. Pneumolysin is produced as a 52kDa protein that binds to membrane cholesterol to form a ring shaped pore that is composed of up to 50 toxin monomer subunits (7). The membrane inserted oligomer has cytolytic and cell modulatory capabilities such as inhibition of phagocyte respiratory burst, inhibition of ciliary movement on respiratory epithelium and brain ependymal; in addition to activation of a proinflammatory responses associated with

infection (8). Pneumolysin has demonstrated a key role to survival of Spn in the upper and lower respiratory tract in mice, and is likely required for bacterial expansion from the lungs to bloodstream (9).

Choline-binding proteins (CBP) are anchored to the cell surface through a bacterial adhesion molecule phosphorylcholine which is present in the pneumococcal cell wall. Spn expresses 10-15 CBPs which vary by strain (10). Pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA) is one of the most widely studied CBPs as an important virulence factor and potential vaccine antigen. PspA helps the bacterium to evade the immune system by inhibiting C3 complement deposition on the Spn surface, and interfering with innate lactoferrin mediated killing of the invading bacteria (11). PspA knockout mutants have reduced virulence and are vulnerable to bactericidal activity of apolactoferrin demonstrating the importance of this cell surface protein to promoting Spn infection (12).

B. Vaccine Approaches

1. Pneumococcal Polysaccharide and Conjugate Vaccines

Two vaccine approaches are currently available to protect against Spn infection, the pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine (PPV) and pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV). Both strategies utilize the immunologically and structurally distinct capsular polysaccharide to elicit a protective response, but the effectiveness varies between the two approaches due to the immunogenicity of the polysaccharide antigen. For decades, the 23-valent PPV (PPSV23) consisting of only polysaccharides was the standard of care for invasive disease in all patients. Today PPSV23 is still routinely used in adults, and coadministered with PCV's in children with underlying medical conditions. Although PPSV23 has reduced the rate of invasive disease in

adults, overall carriage rates have remained unaffected (13). Furthermore, PPSV23 is poorly immunogenic in young children and HIV- infected individuals due to the antibody response generated (14).

When polysaccharides are administered alone they induce a type 2 T-cell independent (TI-2) response that fails to induce immunoglobulin class switching, affinity maturation, and memory B-cell responses (15). While T-lymphocyte engagement is not required for antibody production against a TI-2 antigen, it can influence the magnitude of the response in high risk groups such as children, elderly, and immunodeficient populations (16). To combat this weak immunogenicity, PCV's were first introduced in the United States in 2000 with the licensing of a 7-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide-protein conjugate (Prevnar), which was later expanded to cover 10 (Synflorix), and then 13 (Prevnar13) serotypes (Table 1).

By covalently conjugating the polysaccharide antigen to an immunogenic protein carrier, PCV strategies elicit a T-cell dependent response capable of producing more effective immunologic priming and memory, then polysaccharides administered alone. The current PCV has been highly effective at reducing invasive pneumococcal disease and carriage of vaccine covered serotypes in children, which also confers heard immunity to unimmunized populations of all ages (17) . Unfortunately, vaccine coverage is limited, with only a small number of serotypes included in current vaccine formations.

	Regulatory	
Vaccine	Approval	Serotypes Contained in Vaccine
PPSV23	1983	1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6B, 7F, 8, 9N, 9V, 10A, 11A, 12F, 14, 15B, 17F, 18C, 19A, 19F, 20, 22F, 23F, and 33F
PCV7	2000	4, 6B, 9V, 14, 18C, 19F, and 23F
PCV10	2009	1, 4, 5, 6B, 7F, 9V, 14, 18C, 19F, and 23F
DCV12	2010	1, 3, 4, 5, 6A, 6B, 7F, 9V, 14, 18C, 19A, 19F, and
PCV13	2010	23F

Table 1. Serotype coverage across approved polysaccharide and conjugate vaccines

Table 1. Vaccines available for the prevention of *S. pneumoniae* infection and the respective serotypes covered by each formulation (17,18).

2. Limitations to Current Vaccine Strategies

The limited coverage offered by the current polysaccharide-based vaccine strategies is a major concern to public health. Spn serotypes responsible for invasive disease can fluctuate based on the host's age and geographic origin. Furthermore, the serotypes covered in the current vaccines were chosen based on prevalence in the United States, resulting in vaccine coverage that is less relevant to other geographic areas with differing serotype distributions. For example, the serotypes included in PCV7 account for only 39% of disease causing serotypes in Africa, and 48% of the invasive serotypes in Asia (18).

The ability of Spn to naturally take up DNA from other bacteria is also problematic, as this allows for capsular switch events that can replace the serotypes causing invasive disease in a given population, and circumvent the protection conferred from serotype specific vaccination. Additionally, selective pressure from the widespread use of PCV has allowed for increases of non-vaccine type strains in carriage and disease (19). Only 5 years after the introduction of PCV7 a rise in non-vaccine strains 19A and 6A were observed, accompanied by increases of antibiotic resistance in serotypes not covered by the vaccine (20,21). Similarly, following the introduction of PCV13 a rise in infections from serotype 35B has been observed, suggesting infections will continue to increase from non-vaccine type strains of PCV13 (22). Thus, the long-term usage of PCV strategies may only alter invasive serotype distribution instead of reducing the cumulative burden of disease.

Increasing vaccine valency may help combat emerging invasive strains and geographic variability. However, the possibility of increasing serotype coverage by PCV is limited by financial and technical challenges. Maintaining immunogenicity when including additional serotypes could be complicated, a weakening of immunogenicity has been reported for some common serotypes in children vaccinated with PCV13 compared to those vaccinated with PCV7 (23). Increasing serotype coverage, or introducing regional specific vaccines, could help curb Spn infections in healthy populations, but would fail to address the immunogenicity limitations observed in HIV positive individuals.

People infected with HIV have a 40 fold greater burden of pneumococcal disease compared to healthy individuals (24). HIV- infection disrupts humoral immunity through reduced T-cell engagement, and alterations in quantity and proportion of circulating B-cells, resulting in a diminished response to immunization (25). This likely explains why vaccination with PPSV23 in HIV-infected populations has shown no efficacy in reducing infection by Spn (26). In contrast, while the PCV strategies have been shown to be effective in high risk populations, the immunogenicity levels, duration of protection, and overall efficacy are still lower when compared to healthy controls (27). As a result, current Advisory Committee of Immunization Practice guidelines recommend a vaccination series with PCV13 followed by PPSV23 to help generate higher antibody titers (28).

While the innate immune response is often sufficient to combat most mucosal pathogens the ability of Spn to evade and neutralize these defenses requires the generation of a strong adaptive response, with contributions from both humoral and cellular immunity, to protect against an invasive mucosal pathogen. It is widely believed that intranasal (i.n.) immunization may be the optimal way to effectively induce protection across all recipients, address colonization, and stimulate a long-lasting mucosal and systemic response. Despite the importance of the mucosal niche in the development of invasive disease, current vaccines are administered parenterally via intramuscular injections and are only partially effective at inducing mucosal immunity (29). Intranasal immunization is an attractive approach to prevent colonization and invasive disease in a targeted minimally invasive manner.

3. Common Protein Vaccine

One strategy to combat insufficient coverage, and serotype replacement observed with polysaccharide vaccines, is to find a conserved protein-based antigen that could offer cross-protection against the diverse pool of pneumococcal serotypes. The whole-cell approach is one method of immunizing with a large number of antigens which could provide a broad serotype independent protection, and target both humoral and cellular immunity (30). However, whole cell vaccines can be difficult to deliver and less stable then the counterpart subunit vaccine. An alternative to the whole cell approach is purified surface protein antigens. Several Spn antigens have been studied for their potential to induce protective antibody including PiuA, PiaA, PsaA, RrgA, RrgB, Ply, PcsB, StkP, and PspA (14,18).

One of the best characterized and most promising surface protein vaccine candidates is PspA. PspA is a surface protein virulence factor found on all clinical isolates of Spn. PspA is non-covalently bound at the C-terminal choline-binding repeat region which anchors the protein to lipoteichoic and teichoic acid in the cell wall. The N-terminal alpha-helical region is antibody accessible and divided into three unique families which are further subdivided into six clades (31). 98% of PspA variants fall within the two major families (family 1 and 2). The major conserved epitopes are located within the first 100 amino acids of the N-terminal region (32). Antibodies directed at the N-terminal region of PspA have been shown to protect against pneumococcal challenge in mice (33). Additionally, immunization with a family 2 PspA provided protection against strains from both major PspA families (26). Adults immunized with PspA produce cross-reactive antibodies that are able to passively protect mice against lethal challenge (34,35). Similarly, the amount of pre-existing PspA specific immunoglobulin in an individual has shown to correlate with susceptibility to colonization and carriage (36). Currently, PspA is being evaluated in the clinic for safety and efficacy as part of a multi-protein vaccine PnuBioVaxTM (37).

4. Experimental Mucosal Adjuvants

While PspA appears to be one of the most promising protein vaccine candidates, administration often requires the use of an adjuvant to elicit a protective response. Adjuvants improve immunogenicity and delivery of antigens that would otherwise be unable to mount a significant immune response. A majority of vaccine adjuvants can be separated into two main categories: Immune modulators and delivery systems. The current PCV formulations rely on a nontoxic variant of diphtheria toxin conjugated to the polysaccharide to serve as an adjuvant and enhance immune responses over what is observed in PPSV23, which contain polysaccharides administered alone. One hurdle to developing a mucosal vaccine against Spn is identifying safe,

noninvasive adjuvants that can be used with bacterial antigens to produce protective mucosal and systemic responses. While innate immunity is often enough to protect at the mucosal surface, bacterial adaptations to evade immune protections and infiltrate sterile sites require the generation of innate and adaptive responses to effectively resolve mucosal infections.

One popular mucosal adjuvant, which have been tested with a variety of antigens, is cholera toxin B (CTB). CTB is a subunit of cholera toxin, which has demonstrated effective induction of both humoral and cellular immunity when administered with a bacterial and viral pathogens (38,39). In previously published work we have demonstrated CTB effectively induced systemic humoral immunity against Spn when administered mucosally with PspA (40). While CTB proved to be an effective mucosal adjuvant, concerns have been raised regarding CTB accumulation in olfactory nerves when delivered mucosally (41,42). Additional research is needed to explore creative options for mucosal adjuvants that effectively induce protective immunity while mitigating toxicity by limiting exposure to excess adjuvant and antigenic load.

C. Fc Receptors

1. FcyR Overview and Significance

Fcγ receptors (FcγR) are immunoglobulin specific receptors widely expressed on the surface of cells throughout the immune system. By interacting with the fragment crystallizable (Fc) region of IgG antibodies this class of receptors can both activate and inhibit a variety of effector functions, making this receptor class an attractive target for immune modulation. FcγR's consist of distinct groups of activating and inhibitory receptors with varying expression patterns, cellular distributions, and binding affinities for different IgG subclasses. In humans activating FcγR include FcγRI, FcγRIIA, FcγRIIC, and FcγRIIIA. While in mice the activating receptors are

FcγRI, FcγRIII, and FcγRIV. The receptor FcγRIIB is the only inhibitory receptor in both humans and mice (43). All of the FcγR family, with the exception of FcyRI, exhibit low affinity for monomeric IgG and primarily bind multimeric immune complexes. Binding of multimeric IgG by FcγR triggers receptor clustering and aggregations, thus initiating receptor signaling (44).

Specificity of the IgG Fc domain for different classes of FcγR is largely determined by the primary amino acid backbone sequence of the varying IgG subclasses (IgG1, IgG2, IgG3 and IgG4 in humans) and (IgG1, IgG2a, IgG2b, and IgG3 in mice) (45). As a result, the IgG subclass composition can greatly impact the outcome of Fc engagement *in vivo*. For example in mice the IgG2a immunoglobulin binds to the activating receptors with 100 fold higher affinity then to the inhibitory receptor FcγRIIB. In contrast the subclass IgG1 shows preference for the inhibitory receptor over any of the activating FcγR. Furthermore in mice, IgG1 only binds the activating receptor FcγRIII while all activating mouse FcγR bind IgG2a (Table 2) (46).

In addition to the IgG Fc domain amino acid sequence the quaternary structure of IgG is also designed to facilitate interaction with the Fc domain. The IgG heavy chain is composed of two constant domains CH2 and CH3, with an N-linked glycan structure that spatially separates the two CH2 domains creating a confirmation that is amenable to Fc γ R binding. The hinge proximal region of the CH2 domain engages in a 1:1 stoichiometric complex with the extracellular IgG binding region of the receptor (47). In addition to the determinants in the IgG Fc domain, differences in the sequence of the Fc γ R can contribute to the binding outcome. For example, Fc γ RI is the only high affinity receptor capable of binding monomeric IgG, a property which is attributed to a third extracellular domain that stabilizes the protein-protein interaction with IgG (48).

Table 2. Affinities of Mouse Fcy Receptors for IgG				
	IgG1	IgG2a	IgG2b	IgG3
FcγRI	NB	1 x 10 ⁸	1 x 10 ⁵	*
FcyRIIB	3 x 10 ⁶	4 x 10 ⁵	2 x 10 ⁶	NB
FcγRIII	3 x 10 ⁵	7 x 10 ⁵	6 x 10 ⁵	NB
FcyRIV	NB	3 x 10 ⁷	2 x 10 ⁷	NB

Table 2. Binding affinity for FcγR by IgG subclasses represented as the association constant depicted in M⁻¹ units. (*, binds to the receptor with unknown affinity, NB, indicates no binding) (45,46)

2. Activating Receptors

The majority of Fc γ R are activating in nature and contain a cytoplasmic immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM) which is phosphorylated in response to receptor clustering and activates cytoplasmic Src and Syk family kinases that initiate a signaling cascade in response to binding of Ab-Ag complexes (49). The capacity of antibodies to interact through their Fc domain with cell surface Fc γ R is a key facet to initiating critical aspects of innate and adaptive immunity. The diverse immunomodulatory capabilities of the Fc γ R family can be attributed to the expression patterns across a variety of leukocytes ultimately activating effector functions such as antigen uptake, processing and presentation, regulation of B cell selection and antibody secretion, chemokine and cytokine release, and T-cell activation (50).

Studies using conditional knockout mice and receptor targeting neutralizing antibodies have provided insight into the action of these receptors *in vivo*. Initially, Fc mediated effector functions were believed to be limited to antibody –dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) and phagocytosis. Indeed, IgG bound antigen has been shown to increase the rate and amount of antigen internalized (51). ADCC is another microbial defense mediated by $Fc\gamma R$ which allows for the recognition of IgG bound to target cells or pathogen. Cross linking of $Fc\gamma R$ on the surface of natural killer cells by opsonized pathogen activates unprimed degranulation and killing of target cells, and secretion of cytokines like interferon gamma (IFN- γ) to recruit adaptive immune cells (52).

While phagocytosis is a common downstream function of the Fc γ R family, engagement of the Fc receptor initiates a diverse spectrum of pleiotropic immunomodulatory functions. For instance, a number of studies have highlighted the role of Fc γ R on dendritic cell function and maturation. Dendritic cells are one of the few cell types to express all the mouse activating Fc γ R and the inhibitory Fc γ RIIB receptor. Dendritic cell Fc γ R ligation by antigen-antibody immunocomplexes results in a gene expression profile associated with T-cell activation, enhanced antigen presentation, and induction of CD8+ T cell expansion *in vivo*. These observations were mediated by the activating Fc γ R and were more pronounced in dendritic cells derived from Fc γ RIIB knockout mice expressing only the activating receptors (53). Crosslinking Fc γ R on the surface of DC can also influence cytokine secretion intensity and profile. Studies targeting the activating Fc γ RI with an anti-hFc γ RI-Ag fusion protein induced secretion of both Th1 and Th2 cytokines IL-2, INF- γ , TNF α , and IL-4, IL-5 respectively (54).

In physiological conditions the signaling of the activating FC is balanced by the inhibitory receptor creating a threshold for activation that limits uncontrolled dendritic cell maturation in response to serum immune complexes. To circumvent this co-engagement with other activating receptors, such as toll-like receptors, can act synergistically with activating FcγR and lower the threshold of activation for dendritic cells (55). Additionally, expression of the FcγR are dynamically regulated in response to inflammatory environment which can skew the

receptor density in favor of the activating or inhibitory class.

3. Inhibitory Receptors

As mentioned above, a single inhibitory receptor exists in both humans and mouse which possess an immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibition motif (ITIM) associated with the intracellular cytoplasmic tail. The ITIM domain recruits SH2-containing SHIP to transduce inhibitory signals interfering with key activating intermediates such as PIP3 to dampen the ITAM signaling pathway (56). The inhibitory receptor is broadly expressed on tissue macrophage, dendritic cells, and small populations of monocytes, neutrophils, natural killer cells, and memory T cells (57,58). Furthermore, the inhibitory receptor is the only FcγR expressed by mouse B cells, and is the primary FcyR receptor found on human B cells, thereby making it the most widely expressed FcyR (59).

The inhibitory receptor is an important regulator of cellular activation. Crosslinking of FcyRIIB with the B-cell receptor or activating FcyR provides a contrasting cascade that limits the development of excessive inflammation and autoimmunity. Consequently, an FcyRIIB loss of function polymorphism has been identified as the causative agent of systemic lupus erythematosus in some individuals, due in part to the loss of inhibitory function on B-cells (60). Interestingly, the FcyRIIB polymorphism is more prevalent in Asian populations where it has been suggested the loss of inhibitory function provides a protective advantage against malaria, and thus has been subject to positive selection (61). Animal studies have supported the role of Fc γ RIIB in maintaining tolerance and autoimmunity. For instance, Fc γ RIIB ligation on the surface of B-cells in the absence of opposing BCR signaling results in apoptosis, eliminating B-cells with low BCR affinity (62). Additionally, Fc γ RIIB checkpoints in the germinal center

exclude autoreactive B-cells from splenic follicles, thus limiting the production of pathogenic auto-antibodies and demonstrating the importance of FcγRIIB in controlling peripheral tolerance (63).

The mechanisms by which FcyRIIB controls autoimmunity can also play a meaningful role in regulation of humoral and cellular immunity in response to invasive pathogen. For instance, DCs lacking the inhibitory receptor showed enhanced ability to generate antigen-specific T-cells and produce stronger longer lasting immune responses *in vitro* and *in vivo* (64). Additionally, crosslinking FcyRIIB on the surface of DC alters inflammatory gene expression and inhibits TLR4-mediated cytokine secretion (65). Macrophages are also susceptible to FcyRIIB regulation. Macrophage from FcyRIIB knockout mice exhibit increased propensity for phagocytosis and bacterial clearance (66). Additionally, FcyRIIB deficient macrophage produce increased levels of chemoattractant cytokine IL-12p40 accompanied by an enhanced ability to stimulate IFN-y producing CD4 T cells (67). Finally, studies in FcyRIIB knockout mice immunized with immune complexes showed enhanced antibody responses, germinal center development, and immunological memory when compared to WT controls (68).

Evidence supports the critical role of FcγRIIB in maintaining immunological homeostasis and preventing exacerbated inflammatory responses. While this receptor is clearly important to controlling autoimmunity the endogenous inhibitory nature of FcγRIIB simultaneously limits beneficial humoral and cellular responses important for protective immunity.

4. Neonatal FC Receptor

An additional non-classical $Fc\gamma R$ exists in both mice and humans which is both structurally and functionally distinct from the activating and inhibitory $Fc\gamma R$ previously discussed. The neonatal

Fc receptor (FcRn) plays an important role in recycling and transcytosis of IgG across polarized membranes. FcRn expression on placental syncytiotrophoblasts facilitates transport of immunoglobulin allowing for the passive immunization of offspring with maternal IgG in utero (69). Expression of FcRn is not limited to the placenta and the functional capacity of FcRn to transport IgG persist after infancy allowing for targeted movement of IgG across a broad range of epithelia, endothelia, and hematopoietic cells (70).

In addition to binding IgG the FcRn has a separate distinct binding site for albumin which can be engaged simultaneously with IgG. Together IgG and albumin make up almost 90% of the serum protein content and possess a long serum half-life due in large part to their interaction with FcRn (71). Intracellular expression of FcRn allows for salvage and rescue of both ligands from lysosomal degradation, followed by exocytotic processing in positive recycling endosomes that ultimately leads to release at the plasma membrane (72). The ability of FcRn to effect IgG transcytosis and recycling is dependent on the receptors high affinity for IgG at a mildly acidic pH (5.0- 6.5) but not at a physiological pH (7.4) (73). Our understanding of the role of FcRn in IgG homeostasis has been further supported by conventional and conditional knockout studies. In mice deficient of FcRn serum IgG levels were 20-30% of what is observed in WT animals. Similarly, the half-life was significantly reduced from ~95 hours in WT animals to ~22 hours in FcRn knockouts, further demonstrating the importance of FcRn in maintaining circulating IgG (74,75).

For many years, the emphasis in FcRn studies were focused on half-life and biodistrubution of IgG, thus overlooking the important contribution of FcRn on hematopoietic cells to immune responses involving IgG bound antigen immune complexes. In dendritic cells IgG immune complexes associated with FcRn were diverted into late endosomes or lysosomes

that encouraged retention and were conducive to antigen presentation. Additionally, neutrophils exposed to IgG immune complexes unable to bind FcRn exhibited reduced phagocytosis (76). In line with these observations, mouse and human antigen-presenting cells exposed to WT IgG immune complexes induced greater CD4+ T cell proliferation then groups administered FcRn non-binding variant IgG immune complex (77). While the mechanisms underlying these observations require further investigation, FcRn is likely an important regulator of antigen presentation in addition to IgG transcytosis and homeostasis.

5. FC Targeted Vaccines

Given the important role of the Fc Receptor in mediating a wide spectrum of immunological functions the Fc γ R family is an attractive target for vaccination strategies to enhance host immune responses. Additionally, by targeting antigen to these immunomodulatory receptors you circumvent the need for adjuvant and may reduce the overall antigen load required to provide protective immunity. Numerous studies have illustrated enhanced cellular and humoral responses when targeting antigen to Fc γ R receptors (54,78,79). Our lab has demonstrated targeting inactivated *F. tularensis* (iFT) to Fc γ R using bacterial immune complexes enhanced protection against fatal *F. tularensis* challenge. Using an Fc targeting strategy we demonstrated respiratory and systemic macrophage activation accompanied by a shift in cytokine profile from anti-inflammatory to pro-inflammatory, which helped overcome *F.tularensis* induced immune suppression (80). *In vivo* efficacy conferred by the iFT immune complex is dependent on the FC receptors, and Fc γ R knockouts are not protected against lethal *F. tularensis* challenge (79). In a separate study by our lab, mucosally administered immune complexes significantly increased the T-helper cell subpopulation TH17 in the lung and spleen post infection. Additionally, TH17

synergistic pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6 and TGF- β 1 were elevated in the lung and spleen suggesting an enhanced TH17 response as a result of Fc γ R targeting in the context of *F*. *tularensis* infection (81).

FcγR targeting vaccines are a highly advantageous strategy to generate both humoral and cellular immune responses without the requirement for adjuvant. However, this strategy can be limited by interactions with the inhibitory receptor FcγRIIB. Crosslinking the inhibitory receptor can circumvent Fc protective immunity through inhibition of B-lymphocyte activation and subsequent antibody production. Additionally, FcγRIIB on the surface of macrophage and dendritic cells can have a negative impact on antigen processing and presentation thus limiting T-cell activation. While characterization of the inhibitory receptor in the context of bacterial infection is limited studies have demonstrated FcγRIIB knockout mice to be less susceptible to infection then WT controls (67,82). Interestingly, in some models of infection FcγRIIB knockout mice administered high titer doses had increased mortality rates, likely as a result of increased proinflammatory cytokines and sepsis (83).

An additional benefit to FcyR targeting is the potential for interaction with FcRn. Engaging the FcRn receptor is advantageous for transepithelial vaccine delivery, which helps activate the mucosal immune system. Indeed, Fc targeting vaccines have been proven effective for delivery across pulmonary, oral, and genital mucosal surfaces. Ye and colleagues showed intranasal immunization of herpes simplex virus type-2 glycoprotein gD fused to an Fc fragment protected WT mouse from virulent herpes simplex virus challenge. The construct induced mucosal and systemic immunity which was not observed in FcRn knockout animals (84). It can also not be overlooked the important role FcRn plays in increasing plasma-half-life. As such interactions with FcRn are likely to improve vaccine pharmacokinetics and enhance therapeutic

efficacy.

Many FcyR targeting vaccination studies use immune complexes to target antigen to FcyR on the surface of immune effector cells. This method is necessary in situations where a single immunogenic antigen has not been identified and whole killed or inactivated pathogen is administered complexed with IgG. But therapeutic immune complex studies are complicated by generation of well-defined native immune complex preparations, which require optimal ratios of antibody to antigen. Additionally, immune complex generations are often highly unstable making them impractical for widespread use. One approach to circumvent these hurdles is engineering antigen Fc fusion proteins that could be mass produced at a low cost in a eukaryotic expression system to target immunogenic proteins to FcyR. Fc fusion proteins are bioengineered polypeptides composed of the Fc domain of antibody fused to an effector molecule. An ideal Fc targeting vaccine would bind the activating FcyR while limiting interaction with the inhibitory receptor. One approach to optimize these interactions is to select an IgG subclass whose Fc fragment would maximize interactions with activating FcyR and FcRn while minimizing FcyRIIB involvement. The binding affinities of each IgG subclass for the activating and inhibitory FcyR can be employed to determine the optimal subclass Fc for inclusion in an Fc fusion protein. In mice IgG2a would be isotype of choice with preferential affinity for activating FcyR. In humans, IgG1 would be the equivalent isotype with broad specificity for hFcyRs and lower affinity for FcyRIIB (85).

II. Aims of the Study

The purpose of this thesis is to demonstrate the potential for isotype specific Fc fusion proteins to target PspA to immune effector cells, and provide adjuvant free protection against lethal Spn challenge. To this end we aim to characterize the key contributors of innate and adaptive immunity that are enhanced in response to immunization with Fc fusion proteins. Based on our understanding of isotype and subtype binding hierarchy's we believe a PspA fusion protein consisting of the IgG2a Fc (IgG2a Fc-PspA) would provide superior protection over an IgG1 Fc fusion protein (IgG1 Fc-PspA) in WT mice expressing both activating and inhibitory receptors. In the absence of FcγRIIB we hypothesize a fusion protein containing the IgG1 Fc-PspA will gain efficacy and provide similar protection to IgG2a Fc-PspA.

III. Materials and Methods

A. Mice and Bacteria

C57BL/6 mice were obtained from Jackson Labs (Bar Harbor, Maine). FcγRIIB knockout mice, on the C57BL/6 background, were purchased from Jackson Laboratory stock #002848. All mice were housed in the animal research facility at Seton Hall University and provided ad libitum food and water during the experiment. Animal studies were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee.

S. pneumoniae strain A66.1 a mouse virulent capsule type 3 serotype expressing family 1, clade 2 PspA was provided by Dr. Gosselin (Albany Medical College, Albany, NY) (86). Bacteria were cultured in Todd-Hewitt broth at 37°C until mid-log phase. Bacterial suspension was pelleted and washed 3x with Phosphate buffered saline (PBS), then resuspended in fresh broth with 15% glycerol and stored in liquid nitrogen until use.

B. Construction, Purification, and Characterization of IgG1 Fc-PspA and IgG2a Fc-PspA Fusion Proteins

The cDNA encoding the 303 amino acids of the N-terminal region of family 1, clade 2 PspA was amplified from the Rx1 strain plasmid pUAB055 provided by Dr. Edmund Gosselin (Albany Medical College) using the primer pair (5'-CGGAATTCTTCGAGCGAATCTCC-3', 5'ATAGTTTAGCGGCCGCATTTCTGGGGGCTGGAG-3) (87). During amplification EcoR1 and Not1 restrictions sites were introduced at the 5' and 3' end of the sense and antisense primers respectively. Amplified PspA fragments were then ligated into a PEF6/V5 expression plasmid containing the hinge, CH2, and CH3 domains of mouse IgG1 Fc (a gift of Dr. Sally Ward, University of Southampton). For construction of the IgG2a Fc-PspA construct PspA was amplified by PCR, with the same primers described above, with the exception of the antisense primer modified to introduce a Xho1 restriction site. The PspA PCR product containing EcoR1 and Xho1 restriction sites was then ligated into the pFuse-IgG2a-Fc plasmid containing the murine IgG2a heavy chain (InvivoGen, San Diego, CA). Antibiotic-resistant plasmids were screened by PCR and verified by sequencing.

The plasmids containing chimeric IgG1 Fc-PspA or IgG2a Fc-PspA were transfected into Chinese hamster ovary cells (CHO) (ATCC, Manassas, VA) using PolyFect (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Cells were maintained in serum-free CHO optimized media (Gibco, Waltham, MA) and Puromycin (IgG1 Fc-PspA) or Zeocin (IgG2a Fc-PspA) resistant clones were selected for secretion of the Fc-PspA fusion proteins by PspA and isotype specific ELISA using anti-PspA (SantaCruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX) and goat anti-mouse IgG1 or IgG2a antibodies (Thermo Fisher, Waltham, MA). Recombinant proteins were purified from serum-free CHO supernatant by affinity chromatography using protein G packed columns (Thermo Fisher). Further product concentration and buffer exchange was accomplished using size exclusion chromatography columns (Millipore, Burlington, MA). Protein concentrations were measured by Bradford protein assay kit (Thermo Fisher), and endotoxin level of the purified fusion proteins was determined using chromogenic LAL endotoxin assay kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL).

Purified fusion proteins were resolved on a 12% SDS-PAGE gel under reducing or nonreducing conditions and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. Membranes were blocked with 5% BSA and probed with anti-PspA. Bands were detected using IR800 conjugated Donkey antigoat IgG (Licor, Lincoln, NE) secondary and visualized using the FluorChem Imager (Protein Simple, San Jose, CA). To confirm IgG1 Fc-PspA and IgG2a Fc-PspA retained all structures necessary for FcγR engagement we measured fusion protein binding to murine macrophage FcγR

expressing cell line (RAW 264.7). 1 x 10⁶ cells were incubated with 1ug or 5ug of fusion protein for 30 minutes in the presence and absence of Fc receptor block. Cells were washed and stained with FITC anti-mouse IgG1 heavy chain or FITC anti-mouse IgG2a heavy chain secondary antibody (Abcam, Cambridge, MA) and fluorescence was detected by flow cytometry using the MACSQuant Analyzer (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany).

C. Antigen Presentation Assay

C57BL/6 peritoneal macrophage cell line IC-21 (ATCC® TIB186TM) (2 x 10^5 cells/well) were co-cultured with the PspA specific T-cell hybridoma B6D2 ($1x10^5$ cells/well) with and without the Fc receptor block CD16/32 (Biolegend, San Diego, CA). Co-cultures were treated with titrating amounts of PspA, IgG1 Fc fusion protein, or IgG2a Fc fusion proteins and incubated for 36 hours at 37°C in 5% CO2. Following incubation, the supernatants were collected and probed for IL-2 by ELISA using the manufacturer's instructions (Biolegend).

D. Immunization and Challenge

Eight to twelve-week-old WT C57BL/6 and FcγRIIB knockout mice were divided into groups consisting of 5 mice. Each mouse was anesthetized with a mixture of 20% ketamine (Vedco, St. Joseph, Missouri) and 5% xylazine diluted in sterile water to provide sedation without respiratory depression. While under light sedation mice were immunized i.n. with 20 ul PBS, 10ug of IgG1 Fc or IgG2a Fc fusion protein, or an amount of PspA (gift of Dr. Snapper, Uniformed Services University of Health Sciences, Bethesda, MD) determined to be equivalent to the PspA present in the fusion proteins. Animals in each immunization group were boosted on days 14 and 28. Two weeks after the last dose animals were challenged with 8 x 10⁶ colonyforming units (CFU) of live A66.1 bacteria and monitored for 21 days. The challenge dose was determined by bacterial titration demonstrating 50% mortality (LD₅₀) in non-immunized mice. Exact CFU administered was verified by culturing and counting inoculum subsequent to challenge on blood agar plates (trypticase soy agar with 5% sheep blood).

E. Bacterial Burden

Following immunization and challenge, lung and spleen were collected in PBS containing protease inhibitor (Roche Diagnostics, Indianapolis, IN) and mechanically homogenized using the Omni tissue homogenizer. Supernatants were then diluted 10-fold in sterile PBS, 10ul of each dilution was spotted on Blood Agar plates in duplicate. Plates were incubated at 37°C for 24 hours and monitored for growth. The number of colonies were counted and expressed as Log₁₀ CFU per milliliter. The remaining tissue homogenate was centrifuged at 12,000 x g for 20 minutes, the clarified supernatant was removed and stored at -20°C for cytokine analysis.

F. Measurement of cytokine production and *S. Pneumonaie* specific antibody production

S. Pneumoniae specific antibody production in response to immunization was measured in serum 24 hours pre-infection by ELISA. Assay plates were coated in $1x10^7$ CFU/mL of live S. *Pneumoniae* and incubated overnight at 4°C and then washed four times with PBS containing 0.05% Tween-20. Washed plates were then blocked with superblock (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA) as indicated by the manufacture's instructions. Serum was collected one day before infection through submandibular bleed, samples were added in duplicate as a 10-fold serial dilution and incubated for 2 h at 37°C. Following incubation, plates were washed three

times and incubated with anti-mouse isotype-specific horseradish peroxidase conjugated secondary antibody for 1 h at 37°C [anti-IgG, anti-IgG2c, anti-IgG1, anti-IgG3, and anti-IgA (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA)]. After 1 h incubation with secondary antibody the plates were washed three times and 3,3',5,5' tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) substrate solution was added as per manufacturer instructions, the sample optical density (OD) was read at 650 nm on a microplate reader. Antibody titers are represented as the reciprocal of the highest dilution showing a 2-fold increase in the optical density measured at 650 nm over the background generated from the PBS treated mice.

Cytokines were measured in lung and spleen tissue homogenates collected 24 and 48 hours after infection. Mouse ELISA kits were purchased from Biolegend and performed as recommended by the manufacturer.

G. Flow Cytometry

The lungs of immunized mice were harvested 24 hours post-infection perfused with cold 1x PBS containing a protease inhibitor. The tissue was then shredded into small pieces and placed in digestion buffer containing RPMI (Life technologies), 0.2mg/ml DNaseI (Sigma), 0.4mg/ml Collagenase D (Sigma), and 1M MgCl2. The tissue was incubated in digestion buffer for 30 minutes at 37°C and then forced through a cell strainer to obtain a single cell suspension. The cell suspension was washed and resuspended in RPMI containing 2% FBS, then layered onto 5mL of Lympholyte M (Cedarlane Laboratories, Burlington, NC). The gradient was spun down at 15,000g for 30 minutes at room temperature to obtain the leukocyte rich interface which was removed and added to RPMI with 2% FBS. The single cell lung leukocyte suspension was then preincubated with Fc block (Biolegend) and washed with staining buffer (PBS, 2% bovine serum

albumin, 0.01% sodium azide). Blocked cells were divided into two groups and stained for 30 minutes with fluorescently labeled antibodies for macrophage cell surface markers (F4/80, CD11b, CCR7, MHCII, and CD86) or dendritic cell markers (CD11c, CD11b, CD24, CD103, MHCII) (Table 3).

For analysis of memory B-cell populations splenocytes were processed into a single cell suspension. Cells were counted following isolation, 1 x 10⁶ cells per spleen were washed and stained with fluorescently labelled antibodies (CD4, CD19, CD80, and PD-L2) (Table 2), and analyzed using the MACSQuant Analyzer (Miltenyi Biotec). Data analysis was performed using FlowJo and FCS Express.

Table 3. Antibodies used for flow cytometry analysis				
Antigen marker	Fluorophore	Clone	Panel	
F4/80	PE	BM8		
CD11b	FITC	MI/70		
CCR7	Percp/Cy5.5	4BI2	Macrophage	
MHCII	APC	M5/114.15.2		
CD86	APC/Cy7	GL-1		
CD11c	APC	N418		
CD11b	FITC	MI/70		
CD24	PB	MI/69	Dendritic Cell	
CD103	PE	REA789		
MHCII	PE/Cy7	M5/114.15.2		
CD4	APC/Cy7	RM4-5		
CD19	APC	1D3/CD19	Memory	
CD80	FITC	16-10A1	B-Cell	
PD-L2	PE	TY-25		

H. B-Cell Proliferation Assay

Spleens were harvested from PBS, PspA, or fusion protein immunized mice two weeks after the last boost and processed into a single cell suspension as described above. Spleen cells were

incubated with Carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl (CFSE, Biolegend) at a final concentration of 2uM for 10 minutes at 37°C. CFSE labeled splenocytes (5 x 10⁵ cells) were plated in RPMI 1640 (Gibco) with 10% FBS and cultured in the presence of PspA (5ug/mL) for 4 days at 5% CO2. The cells were then harvested and stained with PE/Cy7 conjugated anti-mouse CD19 (Biolegend) and analyzed by flow cytometry.

I. Statistical analysis

Bacterial burden, cytokine analysis, antibody titers, and cell phenotyping were assessed using a one-way analysis of variances (ANOVA) or the unpaired, two-tailed student t-test. Survival curves were compared using the Log-Rank (Mantel-Cox) test. GraphPad Prism software was used for statistical analysis.

IV. Results

A. Generation and in vitro characterization of recombinant Fc fusion proteins.

Fusion protein expression vectors were transfected into Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells, a common host for the production of biotherapeutics. Stable clones suitable for protein production in culture were selected using anti-PspA and isotype specific ELISA. Since transfection of CHO expression systems is well characterized, and a selective antibiotic media was used, all tested clones showed evidence of the target protein expression. Stable clones were maintained in culture for supernatant collection. Fusion proteins containing the hinge and heavy chain portion of IgG1 or IgG2a linked to the N-terminal α-helical region of PspA were purified from CHO supernatant using affinity and size exclusion chromatography (Fig. 1A) (88). The expression and antigenic reactivity of the isolated fusion proteins was determined by western blot using antibodies specific to the PspA region expressed in fusion with the isotype specific heavy chain. The molecular weight was detected as predicted, accounting for the posttranslational glycosylation innate to mammalian cell expression systems (Fig.1B). To assess effective binding of the recombinant proteins to endogenous FcyR, fusion proteins were incubated with a murine macrophage FcyR expressing cell line (RAW 264.7) in vitro and analyzed by flow cytometry (89). Fusion protein binding to RAW 264.7 cells was detected in a concentration dependent manner and was inhibited in the presence of FcyR blocking antibodies for both IgG2a and IgG1 fusion protein preparations (Fig. 1C, 1D). The functional binding of the recombinant fusion proteins was further assessed through an in vitro antigen presentation assay. Fc receptors are expressed on the surface of antigen presenting cells (APC) and are important mediators of core function in both macrophage and dendritic cells, including their capacity to internalize antigen and regulate T-cell responses (90). To test this, C57BL/6 mouse macrophage line IC-21 was

cultured with a PspA-specific T cell hybridoma (B6D2) in the presence of titrating amounts of fusion protein or PspA alone. Antigenic stimulation of the T-cell receptor triggers multiple signaling pathways including the secretion of IL-2 which further commits T-cells to proliferation and differentiation. For this reason, IL-2 is frequently used as a reliable readout of T-cell activation (91). The production of IL-2 was highest in the groups co-cultured with IgG2a Fc-PspA suggesting an enhanced ability for IgG2a fusion protein to target APCs and stimulate T-cells as compared to the IgG1 fusion or PspA alone (Fig. 1E). The production of IL-2 from the PspA-specific T-cell hybridoma was dependent on FcγR engagement and was reduced significantly for both fusion proteins with the addition of FcγR blocking antibodies (Fig. 2).







FIGURE 2. IL-2 secretion from PspA specific T-cells is reversed in the presence of Fc γ R block. Presentation of PspA by fusion protein treated C57BL/6 macrophage to the PspA-specific mouse (C57BL/6) T cell line (B6D2) was measured in a functional antigen presentation assay in the presence and absence of Fc γ R blocking antibody. IL-2 secretion in the supernatant was measured by ELISA after 30 hours of incubation at 37°C (*, P < 0.1; **, P < 0.05).

B. Targeting activating FcyR with IgG2a Fc-PspA decreases pulmonary bacterial burden and provides superior protection against lethal Spn challenge.

Naive C57BL/6 mice (WT) were intranasally (i.n.) administered PBS buffered unadjuvanted isotype specific fusion proteins or PspA alone using a double boost strategy consisting of immunization on day 0 with boosters on day 14 and 28, followed by lethal i.n. challenge with Spn strain A66.1 two weeks following the second boost. Immunization with IgG2a Fc-PspA provided superior protection against lethal challenge while IgG1 Fc-PspA provided only limited protection, comparable to the protection observed with PspA alone (Fig 3A). Unimmunized mice succumbed to infection by 48 hours after lethal mucosal challenge. Similarly, 75% of PspA and IgG1 Fc-PspA immunized mice died within 4 days of A66.1 challenge. Protection provided by the IgG2a fusion protein was also consistent with reduced bacterial burden in lung 24 hours post-infection compared to the other treated and non-treated groups (Fig 3B).



FIGURE 3. Immunization with IgG2a fused to PspA protects against lethal Spn challenge and decreases bacterial burden in the lungs of infected mice. (A) WT mice were immunized i.n with PBS, PspA, IgG1 Fc-PspA, or IgG2a Fc-PspA on day 0 and boosted on days 14 and 28. Two weeks following the last boost mice were challenged i.n. with Spn strain A66.1 (8 x 106 CFU) and monitored for 21 days. (B) Bacterial burden was measured in the lung of immunized animals 24 hours after i.n. challenge with A66.1. Survival studies are representative of three individual experiments consisting of 6 mice per group (*, P < 0.1).

C. Immunization with IgG2a Fc- PspA enhance the Spn specific humoral response and stimulate a TH1 like cytokine profile.

The importance of antigen specific antibody production has been well established in controlling Spn pathogenesis and providing long-term protection (35,92–94). Specifically, Spn specific antibodies elicit protection by interfering with bacterial adhesion and facilitating complement independent opsonization. For this reason, the levels of PspA-specific antibodies in serum were measured 24 hours pre-infection following i.n. immunization. Mice administered IgG2a Fc-PspA had significantly higher titers of antigen specific antibodies across all tested isotypes, including IgG and IgA (Fig 4A-E). Alternatively, IgG1 Fc-PspA showed no additional induction of PspA specific systemic antibody across all tested isotypes compared to administration of PspA alone. IgA antibodies are particularly relevant to pulmonary infection as IgA is the primary immunoglobulin contributor to humoral mucosal immunity, and has been shown to reduce carriage and prevent colonization of Spn *in vivo* (95).



FIGURE 4. PspA specific antibodies are increased in mice immunized with IgG2a fusion proteins. WT animals were immunized using the i.n. double boost strategy as previously described. Two weeks following the final boost serum was collected and PspA-specific antibody titer for IgG (A), IgA (B), IgG3 (C), IgG2c (D), and IgG1 (E) was measured by ELISA. P-values were determined using an unpaired two-tailed t test (*, P < 0.1; **, P < 0.05).

While both T-helper 1 (Th1) and T-helper 2 (Th2) associated antibody isotypes were elevated in serum, the predominant cytokine profile in lungs of IgG2a Fc-PspA immunized mice was consistent with Th1 differentiation. Type I cytokines, such interleukin (IL)-2, interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) were elevated in the lungs of IgG2a Fc-PspA immunized mice (Fig 5).



FIGURE 5. IgG2a fusion proteins enhance the early innate immune response. WT mice were immunized with PBS, PspA, or fusion protein (day 0) and then boosted twice (day 14 and 28) before i.n. challenge with A66.1 on day 42. Lung and spleen were harvested 24 and 48 hours following challenge, and cytokine concentrations were measured by ELISA (A-E). Each time point represents independent groups of 6 animals per treatment, immunized and challenged in parallel (*, P < 0.1; **, P < 0.05).

The amount of IFN- γ and TNF- α reduced significantly by 48 hours, suggesting the early inflammatory response may be key to controlling infection in the lung and quickly resides to mediate pathologic damage (Fig. 5A,5B). IL-12 was also increased in lung, which further supports TH1 polarization, as IL-12 is commonly produced by activated APC's and polarizes T-cell responses to the Th1 phenotype (Fig. 5C) (96). Similarly, levels of IFN- γ were also

significantly increased in spleen of IgG2a Fc-PspA immunized mice (Fig. 5E). No difference was measured between groups in cytokines typically associated with TH2 differentiation including IL-4, IL-5, and IL-10 (data not shown).

D. IgG2a Fc-PspA immunization leads to AM1 macrophage polarization in the lungs of immunized mice 24 hours post lethal challenge

Alveolar macrophages are a critical component to the early stages of innate immunity against mucosal pathogens in the lung. Classically activated alveolar macrophage (AM1) are a proinflammatory subtype characterized by increased phagocytic capacity and high levels of IL-12, IL-23, and nitric oxide production (97). In previous studies, depletion of alveolar macrophages in a murine model of Spn pulmonary infection significantly increased bacterial burden, suggesting an important role for alveolar macrophage in bacterial clearance during pneumococcal infection (98). In contrast, alternatively activated alveolar macrophages (AM2) are regarded as the resting phenotype, promoting tissue remodeling and immune tolerance in conjunction with anti-inflammatory cytokine secretion such as IL-10 (99). The AM1 lineage constitute a functionally distinct cell type ideally suited to control bacterial burden and provide the first line of innate cellular defense. For this reason, we used flow cytometry to characterize the macrophage population in isolated pulmonary leukocytes of immunized mice 24 hours after bacterial challenge. AM1 cells were characterized by expression of

(F4/80⁺,CD11b^{int},CCR7⁺,MHC class II⁺,B7.2⁺) markers, while the AM2 population were identified as (F4/80⁺,CD11b^{int},CCR7⁻,MHC class II⁻,B7.2⁻) (80). The lungs of mice immunized with IgG2a Fc-PspA had a greater number and frequency of AM1 cells compared to the IgG1 fusion protein and PspA alone (Fig. 6). Increasing the ratio of AM1 to AM2 cells in the lungs by IgG2a Fc-PspA immunization illustrates that targeting the activating FcγR leads to a protective

AM1 alveolar macrophage polarization.



FIGURE 6. Immunization with IgG2a Fc-PspA polarized alveolar macrophage to the AM1 phenotype 24 hours after lethal Spn challenge. Lungs of immunized mice were harvested 24 hours post-infection and cells were separated using density gradient centrifugation. (A-D) Isolated leukocytes were stained with fluorophore conjugated antibodies against CD11b, F4/80, MHC class ll, CD86, CCR7, or the coordinating isotype control and analyzed by flow cytometry. Plots are representative of three independent experiments (E) Average number of AM1 and AM2

cells per mouse lung measured by flow cytometry (*, P < 0.1; **, P < 0.05, N.S., No significant difference).

E. CD11B+ and CD103+ conventional dendritic cells are increased in the lung following PspA targeting to activating FcyR.

Lung resident conventional dendritic cells (cDC) are essential for antigen presentation and subsequent priming of antigen-specific CD4+T-lymphocytes (100). Two main cellular subsets of migratory cDCs have been identified based on the expression of cell surface integrins: CD103 (cDC1) and CD11b (cDC2) (101). Emerging evidence suggests a functional specialization exists between the two subsets, including both a distinct and overlapping propensity to present antigen and initiate specific T-cell responses in a manner dependent on antigenic context and environment stimuli. To our knowledge no studies have explored the role of discrete cDC subsets in promoting specific T-cell polarization after Spn infection.

In the current study we measured cDC1 (CD24+, CD11C+, MHCII+, CD11b-, CD103+) and cDC2 (CD24+, CD11C+, MHCII+, CD11b+, CD103-) in the lungs of immunized mice following lethal Spn challenge. Both subsets were increased in animals immunized with IgG2a fusion protein compared to the IgG1 fusion protein or PspA alone (Fig. 7). While we cannot definitively elucidate the specific contributions of each subset to downstream T-cell activation these findings suggest both groups of cDC are receptive to activating $Fc\gamma R$ targeting and contribute to immunity of the lung. Other groups have highlighted a commonality between the two cell types. Shekhar et al. demonstrated both cDC1 and cDC2 capable of inducing Th1 polarization and promoting protective immunity in response to chlamydial lung infection (102). Additionally, depletion of both cDC1 and cDC2 in the lungs abrogated α - galactosyleramidemediated protection against lethal S. pneumoniae challenge, suggesting a possible role for both cDC subsets in protecting against Spn infection (103).



FIGURE 7. IgG2a Fusion protein increases CD103+ (DC1) and CD11b+(DC2) dendritic cells in the lung 24 hours after Spn infection. (A-D) Representative flow cytometry analysis of leukocytes from immunized mice stained with fluorescently labelled antibodies against CD24, CD11c, MHCII, CD11b, CD103, or the coordinating isotype controls. (E) The average number of DC1 and DC2 cells per lung as detected by flow cytometry (*, P < 0.1; **, P < 0.05).

F. The reduced protection of the IgG1 Fc-PspA fusion protein is reversed in FcyRIIB knockout mice.

Individual receptors of the FcyR family display differential affinity dependent on IgG subclass

which can influence the biological activity of antibodies *In vivo* (Table 2). In the current study, IgG2a Fc fusion proteins provided superior protection over fusion proteins composed of the IgG1 Fc region, which preferentially binds to the inhibitory receptor FcγRIIB. To affirm the role FcγRIIB played on the *in vivo* efficacy of IgG1 Fc-PspA, we investigated the impact of FcγR targeted immunization in FcγRIIB deficient mice (FcγRIIB KO). Consequently, increased protection was observed in IgG1 Fc-PspA immunized FcγRIIB KO mice compared to the WT controls (Fig. 8A).



FIGURE 8. The protective efficacy of IgG1 Fc-PspA against Spn is enhanced in Fc γ RIIB KO mice. (A) Fc γ RIIB KO mice were immunized as previously described. Two weeks following the second boost animals were challenged with a lethal dose of A66.1 (8 x 106 CFU) and monitored 21 days post-challenge. (B) Bacterial burden is significantly decreased in the lungs of mice immunized with IgG1 and IgG2a fusion proteins 24 hours after lethal challenge. Survival studies are representative of three individual experiments consisting of 6 mice per group (**, P < 0.05).

The protection conferred by the IgG1 Fc fusion protein in the KO mice was similar to that of the IgG2a fusion protein observed in the genetically deficient animals as well as the wildtype controls. Additionally, lung bacterial burden was lowest for fusion protein immunized KO mice, and no significant difference was observed between the two fusion protein regiments (Fig. 8B).

G. Immunization with IgG1 fusion protein induces antigen specific antibodies and proinflammatory cytokines in FcyRIIB deficient mice.

Given the improvement in survival observed in the $Fc\gamma RIIB$ KO we sought to determine the impact of $Fc\gamma RIIB$ on antigen specific antibody production in animals immunized with IgG1 Fc-PspA. The levels of PspA-specific IgG and IgA were both elevated following IgG1 fusion protein immunization in $Fc\gamma RIIB$ KO, while PspA alone showed no improvement compared to the titers induced in WT animals (Fig. 9).



FIGURE 9. The PspA specific humoral response induced by IgG1 Fc-PspA is improved in Fc γ RIIB KO mice. Fc γ RIIB KO mice were immunized i.n. on day 0 and 21. Serum was collected on day 35 and levels of PspA-specific IgG (A) and IgA (B) were measure by ELISA. Statistical analysis was performed using an unpaired two-tailed t test (*, P < 0.1; **, P < 0.05, N.S., No significant difference).

The absence of Fc γ RIIB improved protective antibody titers to a level similar to what was observed for IgG2a fusion proteins. While previous studies have shown increases in total serum IgG in Fc γ RIIB KO versus WT mice, we observed no significant differences in the levels of PspA specific antibodies between Fc γ RIIB KO and WT mice (104). Previous studies have also demonstrated increased proinflammatory cytokine production in the absence of Fc γ RIIB (67). Consistent with these observations we measured significantly higher amounts of IL-12, IFN- γ , IL-2 and TNF- α in naive Fc γ RIIB KO mice 24 hours post infection, compared to WT mice at the same time point. The higher baseline level of proinflammatory cytokine induction made it difficult to ascertain significant differences in cytokine production for IL-2 and IFN- γ in the lung driven by fusion protein immunization and were omitted from the analysis. Even so, levels of TNF- α and IL-12 in the lung were still notably increased over PspA immunization alone (Fig. 10A,10B). Similarly, IFN- γ in the spleen was significantly increased in the animals receiving IgG1 Fc-PspA compared to the PspA immunized group (Fig. 10C).



FIGURE 10. Proinflammatory cytokines are increased in the lung and spleen of Fc γ RIIB knockout mice immunized with IgG1 Fc-PspA. Fc γ RIIB knockout animals were immunized, boosted and infected on day 0, 14, and 28 respectively. The lung and spleen were harvested 24 hours following infection TNF- α (A), IL-12 (B), and IFN- γ (C) were measured by ELISA. Statistical analysis was performed using an unpaired two-tailed t test (*, P < 0.1; **, N.S., No significant difference).

H. B-lymphocytes in the spleen of WT and FcyRIIB knockout mice express memory markers and proliferate in response to PspA ex vivo stimulation following immunization with Fc fusion proteins.

FcyRIIB is the only FcyR receptor expressed on the surface of B-lymphocytes and is a primary

modulator of cell responses emanating from the B-cell receptor (BCR). Crosslinking FcyRIIB

with the BCR negatively regulates B-cell signaling, antigen uptake, and promotes apoptosis

(105). Efficient, long lasting protection against bacterial infection is reliant on humoral

immunological memory controlled by memory B-cells which secrete antigen-specific antibodies

in response to previously encountered pathogen. Murine memory B-cells can be characterized by

expression of cell surface markers CD80 and PD-L2, independent of BCR isotype. Double positive populations expressing both CD80 and PD-L2 are a functionally distinct memory B-cell subset which differentiate into antibody forming cells upon reoccurring exposure to antigen, thus providing a reservoir for long-lasting humoral immunity (106). B-cells expressing the double positive memory phenotype were highest in WT and FcγRIIB knockout animals immunized with IgG2a Fc-PspA. Similarly, the IgG1 fusion protein immunization elicited a higher frequency of double positive cells than PspA alone, with no significant difference observed between the two fusion proteins (Fig. 11). The response was significantly augmented in the animal's deficient for FcyRIIB. Similarly, CD19+ B-cells from FcyRIIB KO mice immunized with either of the two fusion proteins had a greater propensity to proliferate ex vivo when restimulated with PspA than their WT counterpart (Fig. 12).





FIGURE 11. Targeting activating $Fc\gamma R$ promotes memory-like B-cells in the spleen of immunized mice which is enhanced in the absence of $Fc\gamma RIIB$. Two weeks following the second boost splenocytes harvested from immunized WT (A-D) and $Fc\gamma RIIB$ (E-H) knockout mice and stained for functional memory B-cell markers. (I) Average number of CD80, PD-L2 double positive B-cells (DP) in the spleens of immunized WT and $Fc\gamma RIIB$ Knockout mice. Statistical significance was determined using an unpaired two-tailed t test (*, P < 0.1; **, N.S., No significant difference).



FIGURE 12. CD19+ B-Cells proliferate on secondary exposure to PspA. Single cell suspensions from the spleen of immunized wild-type (WT) and $Fc\gamma RIIB$ knockout mice were stained with CFSE and stimulated with 5ug/mL of purified PspA for 4 days. (A) CD19+ B-cells were gated in histograms of florescent intensity versus cell count for both WT (B) and $Fc\gamma RIIB$ knockout (C) mice.

V. Discussion

Fc γ R are primary regulators of IgG effector mechanisms *in vivo* and have been shown to be an effective immunomodulatory target to augment vaccine-induced immunity. Engagement of Fc γ R with the immunoglobulin heavy chain regulates functions such as antigen presentation, antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC), phagocytosis, and myeloid cell activation and proliferation. Activating these effector functions would be advantageous to producing mucosal and humoral immunity and protecting against microbial infections. Additionally, an Fc γ R targeting vaccination would also benefit from interactions with FcRn. While not specifically studied in this thesis FcRn has been shown to facilitate transfer of IgG bound vaccine antigens across the mucosal surface and prolong the half-life of circulating IgG, in addition to the benefits conferred by engagement of activating Fc γ R.

In the current study we harnessed the affinity of IgG2a to target activating $Fc\gamma R$ in the form of an adjuvant-free, mucosally administered Fc-PspA fusion protein. We then sought to characterize the protective response in key cell types of innate and adaptive immunity which are endogenously regulated by $Fc\gamma R$ such as macrophages, dendritic cells, and B-cells.

Alveolar macrophage are a key facet of innate immunity and protect against early Spn infection in the lung through bacterial clearance and production of microbicidal inflammatory mediators. FcγR signaling in macrophages strongly influences the functional polarization and propensity for pathogen clearance. It was previously shown PspA targeted to human FcγRI enhanced protection against pneumococcal infection through increased bactericidal activity and antibody mediated complement deposition (78). In the current study we utilized the inherent binding affinity of the IgG2a Fc region for activating FcγR, by targeting PspA to FcγR on the

surface of immune effectors leading to enhanced humoral and cellular immune responses. By targeting PspA to activating receptors macrophage in the lung of IgG2a fusion protein immunized mice were polarized to the AM1 phenotype following lethal challenge with Spn. Furthermore IFN-γ, a Th1 cytokine which was abundant in the lung and spleen of IgG2a immunized mice, is a primary cytokine associated with M1 activation. Both AM1 and IFN-γ are important contributors to host defense against Spn. IFN-γ secreted by Th1 cells at the site of infection can stimulate macrophage to release microbiocidal factors such as metalloproteinases and nitric oxide that boost phagocytic killing of invasive bacteria (107). Additionally, IFN-γ has been shown to increase the expression of FcγR on the surface of macrophage and dendritic cells, thus perpetuating the anti-PspA immune response in animals receiving IgG2a fusion proteins (108). To this end, we observed coordinating increases in IFN-γ, AM1 polarization, and cDC recruitment in the lungs of IgG2a Fc-PspA immunized mice who were better protected against lethal Spn challenge.

The proinflammatory cytokine TNF- α was also locally increased in the lung within 24 hours of infection but subsided when measured 48 hours after bacterial challenge. TNF- α is a pleiotropic cytokine produced by multiple effector cells, including stimulated alveolar macrophage, in the first minutes to hours following pathogen recognition and response. Expression of this proinflammatory cytokine serves to regulate neutrophil recruitment and mediate adaptive mechanisms such as T-cell activation and B-cell stimulation (109). In mice administration of a TNF- α blocking antibody increases bacterial infiltration in blood and accelerates mortality of infected mice (110). Even so, prolonged and excess production of TNF- α is deleterious resulting in acute pulmonary damage and sepsis (111). To this end, an increased risk of shock and death has been recorded in patients with excessive TNF- α production (112).

Early resolution of pulmonary inflammation, as was observed in this study, is a beneficial outcome of the fusion protein immunization strategy to address invading Spn while minimizing tissue damage.

Dendritic cells are central regulators of immune responses by providing a bridge between innate and adaptive immunity. Activating and inhibitory FcyR are of central importance in controlling DC activation and thus influencing adaptive immunity. In mice, FcyR crosslinking by immune-complexes on the surface of DCs initiates a gene expression profile consistent with T cell activation which is absent in FcyR knockout mice. In the current study immunization with IgG2a Fc-PspA increased the number of cDC1 and cDC2 subsets in the lungs of mice 24 hours after Spn infection. Both cDC1 and cDC2 subsets in the lung have been attributed to Th1 priming and activation, historically, cDC1 have been associated with type 1 responses due to non-redundant IL-12 production essential for Th1 polarization. Separately, cDC2 appear to regulate IgA class switching both in vitro and in vivo in mice (113,114). In the current study we saw increases in Th1-like cytokines in the lungs of immunized mice, such as IL-12, as well as antigen specific IgG and IgA. These observations suggest that the increased cDC1 and cDC2 populations in the lungs of immunized mice may have provided the necessary stimulatory signals to T-cells, in the form of increased antigen presentation and IL-12 production, which in turn provided cognate help to B-cells leading to increased antigen specific antibody responses. Effective production of PspA-specific antibodies is especially important in controlling endogenous PspA driven virulence as antibodies directed against PspA can overcome complement inhibition and increase C3 deposition on the surface of infiltrating Spn (115).

While $Fc\gamma R$ targeting was broadly beneficial to key facets of cellular and humoral immunity, interaction with the inhibitory $Fc\gamma RIIB$ can dampen the response conferred by $Fc\gamma R$

targeting. This was particularly evident in fusion proteins containing IgG1 Fc, which has higher affinity for the inhibitory FcγR. In WT mice, immunization with IgG1 Fc-PspA provided no additional protection over the PspA antigen alone. In the absence of FcγRIIB, immunization with the IgG1 Fc-PspA was comparably efficacious to IgG2a Fc-PspA in terms of protection and generation of cellular and humoral immune responses. For example, targeting FcγR with IgG1 fusion proteins in FcγRIIB deficient mice decreased bacterial burden to a similar level as IgG2a fusion proteins. The reduced bacterial burden was likely driven by increased alveolar macrophage activation as was observed in the WT mice. Consistent with this, the phagocytic capacity of macrophage during C. rodentium infection have demonstrated increased capacity when FcyRIIB is not engaged (116). In the absence of FcγRIIB IgG1 fusion proteins also increased TH1 like cytokines and PspA-specific antibodies demonstrating the importance of FcγRIIB signaling in T and B-cell regulatory functions.

While IgG1 has highest affinity for the FcγRIIB, this isotype can also bind to the activating receptor FcγRIII, which likely drove protective immunity against Spn in the FcγRIIB knockout model. Similarly, improvement in anti-tumor activity of IgG1 has been observed in a murine metastatic melanoma model conducted in FcγRIIB deficient mice (46). Each of the immunizations administered benefited from the absence of FcγRIIB, but to a smaller degree than IgG1 Fc-PspA. Most notably, IgG2a Fc-PspA was 100% effective in the KO model compared to 75% survival achieved in the WT animals. This suggests even the minor association of IgG2a with FcγRIIB can subtly affect the biological activity of this isotype *in vivo*.

The Fc γ RIIB receptor is the only Fc γ R expressed on the surface of B-cells, the expression of which is upregulated on activated B-cells. Additionally, IFN- γ which we found to be increased in the spleen of both groups immunized with the two fusion proteins, increases Fc γ RIIB expression

on the surface of B-cells (117). B-cell maturation and differentiation into the memory compartment is clearly imperative for long lasting protection against Spn, and correlate with protection from acquisition further preventing horizontal transmission. As such, engagement of FcyRIIB on the surface of B-cells could greatly influence vaccine outcomes. For this reason, we investigated the role of FcyRIIB expression on B-cell differentiation and proliferation in our FcyR targeting vaccine model. Subsequently, we found that WT mice immunized with IgG2a Fc-PspA had the greatest number of B-cells expressing memory markers compared to the other treatment groups. Moreover, the total number of these cells were significantly increased in the mice deficient for FcyRIIB. Given the importance of FcyRIIB in B-cell selection, it is possible that BCR crosslinking in the absence of FcyRIIB allowed for survival and activation of low affinity clones that would have otherwise undergone apoptosis in the presence of FcyRIIB. Why this response was more prolific in IgG2a Fc-PspA immunized mice may be dependent on augmented T-cell activation exacerbated by targeting activating FcyR in the absence of FcyRIIB, which can in turn provide the necessary costimulatory signals to promote B-cell proliferation and differentiation. To this point, FcyRIIB KO mice have demonstrated increased activation of antigen-specific T-cell responses following utilization of IgG immune complexes as a targeting vaccine strategy (118). T-cell dependent B-cell memory is developed through two distinct mechanisms. In the first, memory B cells go through affinity maturation in the germinal center by interaction with cognate follicular T-cells. In a second pathway memory T-cells develop independent of the germinal center with the help of systemic T-cells. Newly formed memory Bcells then exit to peripheral circulation and differentiate rapidly to memory plasma cells on reexposure to antigen (119). Similarly, we observed B-cells isolated from fusion protein immunized mice were more likely to proliferate ex vivo when cultured with PspA, and thus

primed to provide a secondary response to PspA exposure. This would suggest the B-cell expansion in the KO animals was largely in response to the immunomodulatory capabilities of the FcγR targeting fusion proteins, instead of maturation of low affinity B-cells, or a lowered threshold of activation for a weak Toll-like receptor ligand, such as PspA. But since antigen specific memory responses were higher in FcγRIIB deficient mice, it appears this inhibitory receptor attenuates many facets of humoral memory following fusion protein vaccination.

VI. Conclusions

Collectively, FcγR targeting by IgG2a Fc-PspA fusion protein proved to be an effective vaccine strategy for inducing both cellular and humoral protection against mucosal Spn challenge. Protection was associated with increased AM1 and cDC subsets in the lung, which decreased bacterial burden and increased Th1 polarization and B-cell activation. Additionally, we show immunization with IgG1 Fc-PspA which selectively binds FcγRIIB caused decreased efficiency in various aspects of protective immunity including bacterial clearance, T-cell activation, antigen presenting cell polarization, and B-cell maturation. Consistent with these observations the potency of IgG1 Fc-PspA was highly influenced by the presence of FcγRIIB, which had only a subtle impact on the efficacy of IgG2a Fc-PspA. These findings emphasize the effectiveness of FcγR targeting, and highlight the role played by FcγRIIB in modulating the efficacy of this vaccination strategy against a respiratory pathogen.

VII. References

- 1. Black RE, Cousens S, Johnson HL, Lawn JE, Rudan I, Bassani DG, Jha P, Campbell H, Walker CF, Cibulskis R, Eisele T, Liu L, Mathers C. Global, regional, and national causes of child mortality in 2008: a systematic analysis. The Lancet. 2010 Jun;375(9730):1969–87.
- Abdullahi O, Karani A, Tigoi CC, Mugo D, Kungu S, Wanjiru E, Jomo J, Musyimi R, Lipsitch M, Scott AG. The Prevalence and Risk Factors for Pneumococcal Colonization of the Nasopharynx among Children in Kilifi District, Kenya. Ratner AJ, editor. PLoS ONE. 2012 Feb 20;7(2):e30787.
- 3. Henriques-Normark B, Tuomanen EI. The Pneumococcus: Epidemiology, Microbiology, and Pathogenesis. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2013 Jul 1;3(7):a010215–a010215.
- 4. Lees JA, Croucher NJ, Goldblatt D, Nosten F, Parkhill J, Turner C, Turner P, Bentley S. Genome-wide identification of lineage and locus specific variation associated with pneumococcal carriage duration. eLife. 2017 Jul 25;6:1-25.
- 5. Sørensen UBS, Henrichsen J, Chen H-C, Szu SC. Covalent linkage between the capsular polysaccharide and the cell wall peptidoglycan of Streptococcus pneumoniae revealed by immunochemical methods. Microb Pathog. 1990 May;8(5):325–334.
- 6. Mitchell AM, Mitchell TJ. Streptococcus pneumoniae: virulence factors and variation. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2010 May;16(5):411–418.
- 7. Tilley SJ, Orlova EV, Gilbert RJC, Andrew PW, Saibil HR. Structural Basis of Pore Formation by the Bacterial Toxin Pneumolysin. Cell. 2005 Apr;121(2):247–256.
- 8. Kadioglu A, Weiser JN, Paton JC, Andrew PW. The role of Streptococcus pneumoniae virulence factors in host respiratory colonization and disease. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2008 Apr;6(4):288–301.
- 9. Orihuela CJ, Gao G, Francis KP, Yu J, Tuomanen EI. Tissue-Specific Contributions of Pneumococcal Virulence Factors to Pathogenesis. J Infect Dis. 2004 Nov;190(9):1661–1669.
- 10. Bergmann S. Versatility of pneumococcal surface proteins. Microbiology. 2006 Feb 1;152(2):295–303.
- Ren B, Szalai AJ, Thomas O, Hollingshead SK, Briles DE. Both Family 1 and Family 2 PspA Proteins Can Inhibit Complement Deposition and Confer Virulence to a Capsular Serotype 3 Strain of Streptococcus pneumoniae. Infect Immun. 2003 Jan 1;71(1):75–85.
- McDaniel LS, Yother J, Vijayakumar M, McGarry L, Guild WR, Briles DE. Use of insertional inactivation to facilitate studies of biological properties of pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA). J Exp Med. 1987 Feb 1;165(2):381–394.

- 13. Hamborsky J, Kroger A, Wolfe C. Epidemiology and prevention of vaccine-preventable diseases. United States: U.S. Dept. of Health & Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2015.
- Daniels CC, Rogers PD, Shelton CM. A Review of Pneumococcal Vaccines: Current Polysaccharide Vaccine Recommendations and Future Protein Antigens. J Pediatr Pharmacol Ther. 2016 Jan;21(1):27–35.
- 15. Heilmann C. Human B and T lymphocyte responses to vaccination with pneumococcal polysaccharides. APMIS Suppl. 1990 Jan 15:1–23.
- 16. van Deursen AMM, van Houten MA, Webber C, Patton M, Scott DA, Patterson S, Sidhu M, Drews W, Gruber WC, Emini EA, Grobbee DE, Boten MJM, Sanders EAM. Immunogenicity of the 13-Valent Pneumococcal Conjugate Vaccine in Older Adults With and Without Comorbidities in the Community-Acquired Pneumonia Immunization Trial in Adults (CAPiTA). Clin Infect Dis. 2017 Sep 1;65(5):787–795.
- 17. Grijalva CG, Griffin MR. Population-based impact of routine infant immunization with pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in the USA. Expert Rev Vaccines. 2008 Feb;7(1):83–95.
- Webster J, Theodoratou E, Nair H, Seong AC, Zgaga L, Huda T. An evaluation of emerging vaccines for childhood pneumococcal pneumonia. BMC Public Health. 2011 Apr 13;11(Suppl 3):S26.
- von Gottberg A, de Gouveia L, Tempia S, Quan V, Meiring S, von Mollendorf C, Madhi SA, Zell ER, Verani JR, O'Brien KL, Whitney CG, Klugman KP, Cohen C. Effects of vaccination on invasive pneumococcal disease in South Africa. N Engl J Med. 2014 Nov 13;371(20):1889–1899.
- Munoz-Almagro C, Jordan I, Gene A, Latorre C, Garcia-Garcia JJ, Pallares R. Emergence of Invasive Pneumococcal Disease Caused by Nonvaccine Serotypes in the Era of 7-Valent Conjugate Vaccine. Clin Infect Dis. 2008 Jan 15;46(2):174–182.
- Hsu HE, Shutt KA, Moore MR, Beall BW, Bennett NM, Craig AS, Thomas A, Whitney CG, Harrison LH. Effect of Pneumococcal Conjugate Vaccine on Pneumococcal Meningitis. N Engl J Med. 2009 Jan 15;360(3):244–256.
- 12. Lo SW, Gladstone RA, van Tonder AJ, Hawkins PA, Kwambana-Adams B, Cornick JE, Madhi SA, Kandasamy R, Carter PE, Eser OK, Ho PL, Elmdaghri N, Shakoor S, Clarke SC, Antonio M, Everett DB, McGee L, Breiman RF, Bentley SD. Global Distribution of Invasive Serotype 35D Streptococcus pneumoniae Isolates following Introduction of 13-Valent Pneumococcal Conjugate Vaccine. Diekema. J Clin Microbiol. 2018 May 2;56(7).
- 23. Reinert RR, Paradiso P, Fritzell B. Advances in pneumococcal vaccines: the 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine received market authorization in Europe. Expert Rev Vaccines. 2010 Mar;9(3):229–236.

- 24. Nuorti JP, Butler JC, Gelling L, Kool JL, Reingold AL, Vugia DJ. Epidemiologic Relation between HIV and Invasive Pneumococcal Disease in San Francisco County, California. Ann Intern Med. 2000 Feb 1;132(3):182.
- 25. Johannesson TG, Søgaard OS, Tolstrup M, Petersen MS, Bernth-Jensen JM, Østergaard L. The Impact of B-Cell Perturbations on Pneumococcal Conjugate Vaccine Response in HIV-Infected Adults. Borrow R, editor. PLoS ONE. 2012 Jul 30;7(7):e42307.
- 26. French N, Nakiyingi J, Carpenter L, Lugada E, Watera C, Moi K, Moore M, Mulder D, Janoff EN, Whitworth J, Gilks CF. 23–valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine in HIV-1-infected Ugandan adults: double-blind, randomised and placebo controlled trial. The Lancet. 2000 Jun;355(9221):2106–2111.
- 27. Madhi SA, Adrian P, Kuwanda L, Jassat W, Jones S, Little T, Soininen A, Cutland C, Klugman KP. Long-term immunogenicity and efficacy of a 9-valent conjugate pneumococcal vaccine in human immunodeficient virus infected and non-infected children in the absence of a booster dose of vaccine. Vaccine. 2007 Mar;25(13):2451–2457.
- 28. Center for Disease Control and Prevention. Prevention of Pneumococcal Disease Among Infants and Children-Use of the 13-Valent Pneumococcal Conjugate Vaccine and 23 Valent Pneumococcal Polysaccaride Vaccine: Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. MMWR. 2010;59(RR11):1–18.
- 29. Walker RI. New strategies for using mucosal vaccination to achieve more effective immunization. Vaccine. 1994 Jan;12(5):387–400.
- Malley R, Lipsitch M, Stack A, Saladino R, Fleisher G, Pelton S, Thompson C, Briles D, Anderson P. Intranasal Immunization with Killed Unencapsulated Whole Cells Prevents Colonization and Invasive Disease by Capsulated Pneumococci. Infect Immun. 2001 Aug 1;69(8):4870–3.
- Hollingshead SK, Becker R, Briles DE. Diversity of PspA: Mosaic Genes and Evidence for Past Recombination in Streptococcus pneumoniae. Infect Immun. 2000 Oct 1;68(10):5889– 5900.
- 32. Yu J, Li B, Chen X, Lu J, Wang D, Gu T, Kong W, Wu Y. Comparison of Immunogenicity and Protection of Two Pneumococcal Protein Vaccines Based on PsaA and PspA. Freitag NE, editor. Infect Immun [Internet]. 2018 Apr 2;86(6).
- 33. McDaniel LS, Sheffield JS, Delucchi P, Briles DE. PspA, a surface protein of Streptococcus pneumoniae, is capable of eliciting protection against pneumococci of more than one capsular type. Infect Immun. 1991 Jan 1;59(1):222.
- Miyaji EN, Ferreira DM, Lopes APY, Brandileone MCC, Dias WO, Leite LCC. Analysis of Serum Cross-Reactivity and Cross-Protection Elicited by Immunization with DNA Vaccines against Streptococcus pneumoniae Expressing PspA Fragments from Different Clades. Infect Immun. 2002 Sep 1;70(9):5086–90.

- 35. Briles DE, Hollingshead SK, King J, Swift A, Braun PA, Park MK, Ferguson LM, Nahm MH, Nabors GS. Immunization of Humans with Recombinant Pneumococcal Surface Protein A (rPspA) Elicits Antibodies That Passively Protect Mice from Fatal Infection with Streptococcus pneumoniae Bearing Heterologous PspA. J Infect Dis. 2000 Dec 1;182(6):1694–1701.
- 36. McCool TL, Cate TR, Moy G, Weiser JN. The Immune Response to Pneumococcal Proteins during Experimental Human Carriage. J Exp Med. 2002 Feb 4;195(3):359–365.
- 37. Entwisle C, Hill S, Pang Y, Joachim M, McIlgorm A, Colaco C, Goldblatt D, D'Argoeuves PDG, Bailey C. Safety and immunogenicity of a novel multiple antigen pneumococcal vaccine in adults: A Phase 1 randomised clinical trial. Vaccine. 2017 Dec;35(51):7181–7186.
- 38. Holmgren J, Adamsson J, Anjuère F, Clemens J, Czerkinsky C, Eriksson K, Flach CF, Chandy AG, Harandi, AM, Lebens M, Lehner T, Linblad M, Nygren E, Raghaven S, Sanchez J, Stanford M, Sun B, Svennerholm AM, Tengvall S. Mucosal adjuvants and antiinfection and anti-immunopathology vaccines based on cholera toxin, cholera toxin B subunit and CpG DNA. Immunol Lett. 2005 Mar;97(2):181–188.
- Bitsaktsis C, Rawool DB, Li Y, Kurkure NV, Iglesias B, Gosselin EJ. Differential Requirements for Protection against Mucosal Challenge with Francisella tularensis in the Presence versus Absence of Cholera Toxin B and Inactivated F. tularensis. J Immunol. 2009 Apr 15;182(8):4899–4909.
- 40. Wiedinger K, Pinho D, Bitsaktsis C. Utilization of cholera toxin B as a mucosal adjuvant elicits antibody-mediated protection against S. pneumoniae infection in mice. Ther Adv Vaccines. 2017 Feb;5(1):15–24.
- 41. van Ginkel FW, Jackson RJ, Yuki Y, McGhee JR. Cutting Edge: The Mucosal Adjuvant Cholera Toxin Redirects Vaccine Proteins into Olfactory Tissues. J Immunol. 2000 Nov 1;165(9):4778–4782.
- 42. Mutsch M, Zhou W, Rhodes P, Bopp M, Chen RT, Linder T, Spyr C, Steffen R. Use of the Inactivated Intranasal Influenza Vaccine and the Risk of Bell's Palsy in Switzerland. N Engl J Med. 2004 Feb 26;350(9):896–903.
- 43. Bruhns P. Properties of mouse and human IgG receptors and their contribution to disease models. Blood. 2012 Jun 14;119(24):5640–5649.
- 44. Hanson QM, Barb AW. A Perspective on the Structure and Receptor Binding Properties of Immunoglobulin G Fc. Biochemistry. 2015 May 19;54(19):2931–2942.
- 45. Gosselin EJ, Bitsaktsis C, Li Y, Iglesias BV. Fc receptor-targeted mucosal vaccination as a novel strategy for the generation of enhanced immunity against mucosal and non-mucosal pathogens. Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz). 2009 Oct;57(5):311–323.
- 46. Nimmerjahn F. Divergent Immunoglobulin G Subclass Activity Through Selective Fc Receptor Binding. Science. 2005 Dec 2;310(5753):1510–1512.

- Sondermann P, Pincetic A, Maamary J, Lammens K, Ravetch JV. General mechanism for modulating immunoglobulin effector function. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2013 Jun 11;110(24):9868–9872.
- 48. Kiyoshi M, Caaveiro JMM, Kawai T, Tashiro S, Ide T, Asaoka Y, Hatayama K, Tsumoto K. Structural basis for binding of human IgG1 to its high-affinity human receptor FcγRI. Nat Commun. 2015 Apr 30;6:6866.
- 49. Daëron M. Fc Receptor Biology. Annu Rev Immunol. 1997 Apr;15(1):203-34.
- 50. Bournazos S, Ravetch JV. Fcγ Receptor Function and the Design of Vaccination Strategies. Immunity. 2017 Aug;47(2):224–233.
- 51. Iglesias BV, Bitsaktsis C, Pham G, Drake JR, Hazlett KRO, Porter K, Gosselin EJ.. Multiple mechanisms mediate enhanced immunity generated by mAb-inactivated *F. tularensis* immunogen. Immunol Cell Biol. 2013 Feb;91(2):139–148.
- 52. Bryceson YT, March ME, Ljunggren H-G, Long EO. Synergy among receptors on resting NK cells for the activation of natural cytotoxicity and cytokine secretion. Blood. 2006 Jan 1;107(1):159–166.
- 53. van Montfoort N, 't Hoen PAC, Mangsbo SM, Camps MGM, Boross P, Melief CJM, Ossendorp F, Verbeen JS. Fcγ Receptor IIb Strongly Regulates Fcγ Receptor-Facilitated T Cell Activation by Dendritic Cells. J Immunol. 2012 Jul 1;189(1):92–101.
- 54. Adamova E, Walsh MC, Gosselin DR, Hale K, Preissler MT, Graziano RF, Gosselin EJ.. Enhanced Antigen-Specific Antibody and Cytokine Responses When Targeting Antigen to Human FcGAMMA Receptor Type I Using an Anti-Human FcGAMMA Receptor Type I-Streptavidin Fusion Protein in an Adjuvant-Free System. Immunol Invest. 2005 Jan;34(4):417–429.
- 55. Boruchov AM. Activating and inhibitory IgG Fc receptors on human DCs mediate opposing functions. J Clin Invest. 2005 Oct 1;115(10):2914–2923.
- 56. Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. Fcγ receptors as regulators of immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008 Jan 1;8:34.
- 57. Veri M-C, Gorlatov S, Li H, Burke S, Johnson S, Stavenhagen J, Stein KE, Bonvini E, Koenig S. Monoclonal antibodies capable of discriminating the human inhibitory Fcy-receptor IIB (CD32B) from the activating Fcy-receptor IIA (CD32A): biochemical, biological and functional characterization. Immunology. 2007 Jul;121(3):392–404.
- 58. Magnusson SE, Engström M, Jacob U, Ulfgren A-K, Kleinau S. High synovial expression of the inhibitory FcγRIIb in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Res Ther. 2007;9(3):R51.
- 59. Rabinovitch N, Gelfand EW. Expression of Functional Activating and Inhibitory Fcγ Receptors on Human B Cells. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. 2004;133(3):285–294.

- Dai C, Deng Y, Quinlan A, Gaskin F, Tsao BP, Fu SM. Genetics of systemic lupus erythematosus: immune responses and end organ resistance to damage. Curr Opin Immunol. 2014 Dec;31:87–96.
- 61. Clatworthy MR, Willcocks L, Urban B, Langhorne J, Williams TN, Peshu N, Watkins NA, Floto RA, Smith KG. Systemic lupus erythematosus-associated defects in the inhibitory receptor Fc RIIb reduce susceptibility to malaria. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2007 Apr 24;104(17):7169–7174.
- 62. Pearse RN, Kawabe T, Bolland S, Guinamard R, Kurosaki T, Ravetch JV. SHIP Recruitment Attenuates FcγRIIB-Induced B Cell Apoptosis. Immunity. 1999 Jun;10(6):753–760.
- 63. Paul E, Nelde A, Verschoor A, Carroll MC. Follicular exclusion of autoreactive B cells requires Fc RIIb. Int Immunol. 2007 Feb 20;19(4):365–373.
- 64. Kalergis AM, Ravetch JV. Inducing Tumor Immunity through the Selective Engagement of Activating Fcγ Receptors on Dendritic Cells. J Exp Med. 2002 Jun 17;195(12):1653–9.
- 65. Wenink MH, Santegoets KCM, Roelofs MF, Huijbens R, Koenen HJPM, van Beek R. The Inhibitory FcγIIb Receptor Dampens TLR4-Mediated Immune Responses and Is Selectively Up-regulated on Dendritic Cells from Rheumatoid Arthritis Patients with Quiescent Disease. J Immunol. 2009 Oct 1;183(7):4509–4520.
- Merched AJ, Daret D, Li L, Franzl N, Sauvage-Merched M. Specific autoantigens in experimental autoimmunity-associated atherosclerosis. FASEB J. 2016 Jun;30(6):2123– 2134.
- Maglione PJ, Xu J, Casadevall A, Chan J. Fcγ Receptors Regulate Immune Activation and Susceptibility during Mycobacterium tuberculosis Infection. J Immunol. 2008 Mar 1;180(5):3329–3338.
- Getahun A, Dahlström J, Wernersson S, Heyman B. IgG2a-Mediated Enhancement of Antibody and T Cell Responses and Its Relation to Inhibitory and Activating Fcγ Receptors. J Immunol. 2004 May 1;172(9):5269–5276.
- 69. Leach JL, Sedmak DD, Osborne JM, Rahill B, Lairmore MD, Anderson CL. Isolation from human placenta of the IgG transporter, FcRn, and localization to the syncytiotrophoblast: implications for maternal-fetal antibody transport. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950. 1996 Oct 15;157(8):3317–3322.
- 70. Pyzik M, Sand KMK, Hubbard JJ, Andersen JT, Sandlie I, Blumberg RS. The Neonatal Fc Receptor (FcRn): A Misnomer? Front Immunol. 2019 Jul 10;10:1540.
- 71. Roopenian DC, Akilesh S. FcRn: the neonatal Fc receptor comes of age. Nat Rev Immunol. 2007 Aug 17;7:715.

- 72. Ober RJ, Martinez C, Lai X, Zhou J, Ward ES. Exocytosis of IgG as mediated by the receptor, FcRn: An analysis at the single-molecule level. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2004 Jul 27;101(30):11076–11081.
- 73. Jones EA, Waldmann TA. The mechanism of intestinal uptake and transcellular transport of IgG in the neonatal rat. J Clin Invest. 1972 Nov;51(11):2916–2927.
- 74. Montoyo HP, Vaccaro C, Hafner M, Ober RJ, Mueller W, Ward ES. Conditional deletion of the MHC class I-related receptor FcRn reveals the sites of IgG homeostasis in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2009 Feb 24;106(8):2788–2793.
- 75. Roopenian DC, Christianson GJ, Sproule TJ, Brown AC, Akilesh S, Jung N, Petkova S, Avanessian L, Choi EY, Shaffer DJ, Eden PA, Anderson CL. The MHC Class I-Like IgG Receptor Controls Perinatal IgG Transport, IgG Homeostasis, and Fate of IgG-Fc-Coupled Drugs. J Immunol. 2003 Apr 1;170(7):3528–3533.
- 76. Vidarsson G, Stemerding AM, Stapleton NM, Spliethoff SE, Janssen H, Rebers FE, Haas MD, Winkel JGV. FcRn: an IgG receptor on phagocytes with a novel role in phagocytosis. Blood. 2006 Nov 15;108(10):3573–3579.
- 77. Qiao S-W, Kobayashi K, Johansen F-E, Sollid LM, Andersen JT, Milford E, Roopenian DC, Lencer WI, Blumberg RS. Dependence of antibody-mediated presentation of antigen on FcRn. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2008 Jul 8;105(27):9337–9342.
- 78. Bitsaktsis C, Iglesias BV, Li Y, Colino J, Snapper CM, Hollingshead SK, Pham G, Gosselin DR, Gosselin E.. Mucosal Immunization with an Unadjuvanted Vaccine That Targets Streptococcus pneumoniae PspA to Human Fc Receptor Type I Protects against Pneumococcal Infection through Complement- and Lactoferrin-Mediated Bactericidal Activity. Infect Immun. 2012 Mar 1;80(3):1166–1180.
- 79. Rawool DB, Bitsaktsis C, Li Y, Gosselin DR, Lin Y, Kurkure NV, Metzger DW, Gosselin EJ. Utilization of Fc Receptors as a Mucosal Vaccine Strategy against an Intracellular Bacterium, Francisella tularensis. J Immunol. 2008 Apr 15;180(8):5548–5557.
- Babadjanova Z, Wiedinger K, Gosselin EJ, Bitsaktsis C. Targeting of a Fixed Bacterial Immunogen to Fc Receptors Reverses the Anti-Inflammatory Properties of the Gram-Negative Bacterium, Francisella tularensis, during the Early Stages of Infection. Charbit A, editor. PLOS ONE. 2015 Jun 26;10(6):e0129981.
- Bitsaktsis C, McCauley J, Devenney K. Protective role of TH17 cells in an FcγR targeting immunization strategy against the respiratory bacterial pathogen, Francisella tularensis. J Immunol. 2019 May 1;202(1 Supplement):139.9.
- 82. Gjertsson I, Kleinau S, Tarkowski A. The impact of Fcγ receptors on Staphylococcus aureus infection. Microb Pathog. 2002 Oct;33(4):145–152.
- Clatworthy MR, Smith KGC. FcγRIIb Balances Efficient Pathogen Clearance and the Cytokine-mediated Consequences of Sepsis. J Exp Med. 2004 Mar 1;199(5):717–723.

- 84. Ye L, Zeng R, Bai Y, Roopenian DC, Zhu X. Efficient mucosal vaccination mediated by the neonatal Fc receptor. Nat Biotechnol. 2011 Jan 16;29:158.
- 85. Bruhns P, Iannascoli B, England P, Mancardi DA, Fernandez N, Jorieux S, Daeron M. Specificity and affinity of human Fc receptors and their polymorphic variants for human IgG subclasses. Blood. 2009 Apr 16;113(16):3716–3725.
- Hahn C, Harrison EM, Parkhill J, Holmes MA, Paterson GK. Draft Genome Sequence of the Streptococcus pneumoniae Avery Strain A66. Genome Announc. 2015 Jun 25;3(3):e00697-15, /ga/3/3/e00697-15.atom.
- 87. Briles DE, Ades E, Paton JC, Sampson JS, Carlone GM, Huebner RC, Virolainen A, Swiatlo E, Hollingshead SK. Intranasal immunization of mice with a mixture of the pneumococcal proteins PsaA and PspA is highly protective against nasopharyngeal carriage of Streptococcus pneumoniae. Infect Immun. 2000 Feb;68(2):796–800.
- 88. Wiedinger K, McCauley J, Bitsaktsis C. Isotype specific outcomes in Fc gamma receptor targeting of PspA using fusion proteins as a vaccination strategy against *Streptococcus pneumoniae* infection. Vaccine 2020 Jul 31;38(35): 5634-5646.
- Verma A, Ngundi MM, Meade BD, De Pascalis R, Elkins KL, Burns DL. Analysis of the Fc Gamma Receptor-Dependent Component of Neutralization Measured by Anthrax Toxin Neutralization Assays. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 2009 Oct 1;16(10):1405–1412.
- 90. Hamano Y, Arase H, Saisho H, Saito T. Immune Complex and Fc Receptor-Mediated Augmentation of Antigen Presentation for in Vivo Th Cell Responses. J Immunol. 2000 Jun 15;164(12):6113–6119.
- Sojka DK, Bruniquel D, Schwartz RH, Singh NJ. IL-2 Secretion by CD4+ T Cells In Vivo Is Rapid, Transient, and Influenced by TCR-Specific Competition. J Immunol. 2004 May 15;172(10):6136–6143.
- 92. Moreno AT, Oliveira MLS, Ferreira DM, Ho PL, Darrieux M, Leite LCC. Immunization of Mice with Single PspA Fragments Induces Antibodies Capable of Mediating Complement Deposition on Different Pneumococcal Strains and Cross-Protection. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 2010 Mar 1;17(3):439–446.
- Briles DE, Tart RC, Wu HY, Ralph BA, Russell MW, McDaniel LS. Systemic and mucosal protective immunity to pneumococcal surface protein A. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1996 Oct 25;797:118–126.
- 94. Bruyn GAW, Zegers BJM, van Furth R. Mechanisms of Host Defense against Infection with Streptococcus pneumoniae. Clin Infect Dis. 1992 Jan 1;14(1):251–62.
- 95. Fukuyama Y, King JD, Kataoka K, Kobayashi R, Gilbert RS, Oishi K, Hollingshead SK, Briles DE, Fujihashi K. Secretory-IgA Antibodies Play an Important Role in the Immunity to Streptococcus pneumoniae. J Immunol. 2010 Aug 1;185(3):1755–1762.

- 96. Lichtenegger FS, Mueller K, Otte B, Beck B, Hiddemann W, Schendel DJ. CD86 and IL-12p70 Are Key Players for T Helper 1 Polarization and Natural Killer Cell Activation by Toll-Like Receptor-Induced Dendritic Cells. Appel S, editor. PLoS ONE. 2012 Sep 4;7(9):e44266.
- 97. Italiani P, Boraschi D. From Monocytes to M1/M2 Macrophages: Phenotypical vs. Functional Differentiation. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2014 Oct 17;5:1-25.
- Dockrell DH, Marriott HM, Prince LR, Ridger VC, Ince PG, Hellewell PG. Alveolar Macrophage Apoptosis Contributes to Pneumococcal Clearance in a Resolving Model of Pulmonary Infection. J Immunol. 2003 Nov 15;171(10):5380–5388.
- Mantovani A, Sica A, Sozzani S, Allavena P, Vecchi A, Locati M. The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization. Trends Immunol. 2004 Dec;25(12):677–686.
- 100. Desai DD, Harbers SO, Flores M, Colonna L, Downie MP, Bergtold A, Jung S, Clynes R. Fcγ Receptor IIB on Dendritic Cells Enforces Peripheral Tolerance by Inhibiting Effector T Cell Responses. J Immunol. 2007 May 15;178(10):6217–6226.
- 101. Schlitzer A, Sivakamasundari V, Chen J, Sumatoh HRB, Schreuder J, Lum J, Malleret B, Zhang S, Larbi A, Naik S, Newell EW, Robson P, Ginhoux F. Identification of cDC1- and cDC2-committed DC progenitors reveals early lineage priming at the common DC progenitor stage in the bone marrow. Nat Immunol. 2015 Jul;16(7):718–728.
- 102. Shekhar S, Peng Y, Wang S, Yang X. CD103+ lung dendritic cells (LDCs) induce stronger Th1/Th17 immunity to a bacterial lung infection than CD11bhi LDCs. Cell Mol Immunol. 2018 Apr;15(4):377–387.
- 103. Ivanov S, Fontaine J, Paget C, Macho Fernandez E, Van Maele L, Renneson J. Key Role for Respiratory CD103+ Dendritic Cells, IFN-, and IL-17 in Protection Against Streptococcus pneumoniae Infection in Response to -Galactosylceramide. J Infect Dis. 2012 Sep 1;206(5):723–734.
- 104. Franz BJ, Li Y, Bitsaktsis C, Iglesias BV, Pham G, Sunagar R, Kumar S, Gosselin EJ. Downmodulation of Vaccine-Induced Immunity and Protection against the Intracellular Bacterium Francisella tularensis by the Inhibitory Receptor FcyRIIB. J Immunol Res. 2015 Apr;2015:1–13.
- 105. Nakamura K, Cambier JC. B Cell Antigen Receptor (BCR)-Mediated Formation of a SHP-2-pp120 Complex and Its Inhibition by FeγRIIB1-BCR Coligation. J Immunol. 1998 Jul 15;161(2):684.
- 106. Zuccarino-Catania GV, Sadanand S, Weisel FJ, Tomayko MM, Meng H, Kleinstein SH, Jacobson KLG, Shlomchik MJ. CD80 and PD-L2 define functionally distinct memory B cell subsets that are independent of antibody isotype. Nat Immunol. 2014 Jul;15(7):631–637.

- 107. Nathan CF, Murray HW, Wiebe ME, Rubin BY. Identification of interferon-gamma as the lymphokine that activates human macrophage oxidative metabolism and antimicrobial activity. J Exp Med. 1983 Sep 1;158(3):670–689.
- 108. Pricop L, Redecha P, Teillaud J-L, Frey J, Fridman WH, Sautès-Fridman C, Salmon JE. Differential Modulation of Stimulatory and Inhibitory Fcγ Receptors on Human Monocytes by Th1 and Th2 Cytokines. J Immunol. 2001 Jan 1;166(1):531–537.
- 109. Bergeron Y, Ouellet N, Deslauriers A-M, Simard M, Olivier M, Bergeron MG. Cytokine Kinetics and Other Host Factors in Response to Pneumococcal Pulmonary Infection in Mice. Infect Immun. 1998 Mar 1;66(3):912–922.
- 110. Takashima K, Tateda K, Matsumoto T, Iizawa Y, Nakao M, Yamaguchi K. Role of tumor necrosis factor alpha in pathogenesis of pneumococcal pneumonia in mice. Infect Immun. 1997 Jan;65(1):257–260.
- 111. Wright TW, Pryhuber GS, Chess PR, Wang Z, Notter RH, Gigliotti F. TNF Receptor Signaling Contributes to Chemokine Secretion, Inflammation, and Respiratory Deficits during Pneumocystis Pneumonia. J Immunol. 2004 Feb 15;172(4):2511–2521.
- 112. Waterer GW, Quasney MW, Cantor RM, Wunderink RG. Septic Shock and Respiratory Failure in Community-acquired Pneumonia Have Different TNF Polymorphism Associations. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2001 Jun;163(7):1599–1604.
- 113. Suzuki Y, Suda T, Furuhashi K, Shibata K, Hashimoto D, Enomto N, Nakamura Y, Inui N, Nakamura H, Chida K. Mouse CD11b high Lung Dendritic Cells Have More Potent Capability to Induce IgA than CD103+ Lung Dendritic Cells In Vitro. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2012 Jun;46(6):773–780.
- 114. Reboldi A, Arnon TI, Rodda LB, Atakilit A, Sheppard D, Cyster JG. IgA production requires B cell interaction with subepithelial dendritic cells in Peyers patches. Science. 2016 May 13;352(6287):aaf4822–aaf4822.
- 115. Ren B, Szalai AJ, Hollingshead SK, Briles DE. Effects of PspA and Antibodies to PspA on Activation and Deposition of Complement on the Pneumococcal Surface. Infect Immun. 2004 Jan 1;72(1):114–122.
- 116. Masuda A, Yoshida M, Shiomi H, Ikezawa S, Takagawa T, Tanaka H, Azuma T. Fc Receptor Regulation of Citrobacter rodentium Infection. Infect Immun. 2008 Apr 1;76(4):1728–1737.
- 117. Snapper CM, Hooley JJ, Atasoy U, Finkelman FD, Paul WE. Differential regulation of murine B cell Fc gamma RII expression by CD4+ T helper subsets. J Immunol. 1989 Oct 1;143(7):2133.
- 118. Verbeek JS, Hirose S, Nishimura H. The Complex Association of FcγRIIb With Autoimmune Susceptibility. Front Immunol. 2019 Oct 15;10:2061.

 De Silva NS, Klein U. Dynamics of B cells in germinal centres. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015 Mar;15(3):137–148.